

ARCHIVIO ISTITUZIONALE DELLA RICERCA

Alma Mater Studiorum Università di Bologna Archivio istituzionale della ricerca

A Note on Riemann-Liouville Fractional Sobolev Spaces

This is the final peer-reviewed author's accepted manuscript (postprint) of the following publication:

Published Version: A Note on Riemann-Liouville Fractional Sobolev Spaces / Carbotti, A; Comi, GE. - In: COMMUNICATIONS ON PURE AND APPLIED ANALYSIS. - ISSN 1534-0392. - STAMPA. - 20:1(2021), pp. 17-54. [10.3934/cpaa.2020255]

This version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/11585/908071 since: 2022-11-27 *Published:* DOI: http://doi.org/10.3934/cpaa.2020255

Terms of use:

Some rights reserved. The terms and conditions for the reuse of this version of the manuscript are specified in the publishing policy. For all terms of use and more information see the publisher's website.

(Article begins on next page)

This item was downloaded from IRIS Università di Bologna (https://cris.unibo.it/). When citing, please refer to the published version. This is the final peer-reviewed accepted manuscript of:

Carbotti, A., & Comi, G. E. (2021). A NOTE on RIEMANN-LIOUVILLE FRACTIONAL SOBOLEV SPACES. *Communications on Pure and Applied Analysis, 20*(1), 17-54

The final published version is available online at <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.3934/cpaa.2020255</u>

Terms of use:

Some rights reserved. The terms and conditions for the reuse of this version of the manuscript are specified in the publishing policy. For all terms of use and more information see the publisher's website.

This item was downloaded from IRIS Università di Bologna (<u>https://cris.unibo.it/</u>)

When citing, please refer to the published version.

A NOTE ON RIEMANN-LIOUVILLE FRACTIONAL SOBOLEV SPACES

ALESSANDRO CARBOTTI^1 AND GIOVANNI E. COMI 2

ABSTRACT. Taking inspiration from a recent paper by Bergounioux et al., we study the Riemann-Liouville fractional Sobolev space $W^{s,p}_{RL,a+}(I)$, for I = (a,b) for some $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$, a < b, $s \in (0,1)$ and $p \in [1,\infty]$; that is, the space of functions $u \in L^p(I)$ such that the left Riemann-Liouville (1 - s)-fractional integral $I^{1-s}_{a+}[u]$ belongs to $W^{1,p}(I)$. We prove that the space of functions of bounded variation BV(I) and the fractional Sobolev space $W^{s,1}(I)$ continuously embed into $W^{s,1}_{RL,a+}(I)$. In addition, we define the space of functions with left Riemann-Liouville s-fractional bounded variation, $BV^s_{RL,a+}(I)$, as the set of functions $u \in L^1(I)$ such that $I^{1-s}_{a+}[u] \in BV(I)$, and we analyze some fine properties of these functions. Finally, we prove some fractional Sobolev-type embedding results and we analyze the case of higher order Riemann-Liouville fractional derivatives.

CONTENTS

1. Introduction	2
2. Notation and preliminaries	5
2.1. BV functions on the real line	6
2.2. Fractional Sobolev spaces on the real line	8
2.3. Fractional integrals	9
2.4. Fractional derivatives	14
2.5. Riemann-Liouville fractional Sobolev spaces	17
3. Main embedding and asymptotic results	20
4. The space $BV^s_{RL,a+}(I)$	31
5. Action of the fractional integral on Sobolev functions	34
6. Sobolev-type embedding theorems for $W^{s,p}_{RL,a+}(I)$ and $BV^s_{RL,a+}(I)$	37
7. Higher order fractional derivatives	39
8. Open Problems	42

Date: September 15, 2020.

²⁰¹⁰ Mathematics Subject Classification. 26A33, 26A45, 26B30, 47B38.

Key words and phrases. Fractional calculus, fractional derivative, Riemann-Liouville fractional integral, Riemann-Liouville fractional derivative, Caputo fractional derivative, fractional Sobolev spaces, fractional BV spaces.

¹Dipartimento di Matematica e Fisica, Università del Salento, Via Per Arnesano, 73100 Lecce, Italy. ²Fachbereich Mathematik, Universität Hamburg, Bundesstraße 55, 20146 Hamburg, Germany.

References

1. INTRODUCTION

The goal of this paper is to analyze in detail the connection between some functional spaces defined through the Riemann-Liouville fractional operator and the classical Sobolev and BV spaces on an interval I = (a, b) of the real line.

The intuitive idea of defining a fractional version of the derivative and integral operators is as old as calculus itself, having being mentioned for the first time in an epistular exchange between Leibniz and de l'Hôpital which dates back to 1695 [26]. Fractional integrals and derivatives have proved to be useful in applications, since they arise naturally in many contexts such as viscoelasticity, neurobiology and finance, see for instance [2,3,9, 17,18]. Therefore, different examples of such operators are present in literature. Among these ones, Riemann-Liouville and Caputo fractional derivatives are the most exploited in the one-dimensional applications. Given a sufficiently smooth function u on an interval (a, b) and $s \in (0, 1)$, the left and right Riemann-Liouville s-fractional derivatives of u are defined as

$$D_{a+}^{s}[u](x) := \frac{d}{dx} \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-s)} \int_{a}^{x} \frac{u(t)}{(x-t)^{s}} dt,$$
$$D_{b-}^{s}[u](x) := -\frac{d}{dx} \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-s)} \int_{x}^{b} \frac{u(t)}{(t-x)^{s}} dt,$$

respectively, where Γ is Euler's Gamma function. On the other hand, the left and right Caputo *s*-fractional derivatives of *u* are set to be

$${}^{C}D_{a+}^{s}[u](x) := \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-s)} \int_{a}^{x} \frac{u'(t)}{(x-t)^{s}} dt,$$

$${}^{C}D_{b-}^{s}[u](x) := -\frac{1}{\Gamma(1-s)} \int_{x}^{b} \frac{u'(t)}{(t-x)^{s}} dt.$$

It is easy to notice that Caputo s-fractional derivatives are just given by a commutation in the order of the operations of the left and right (1 - s)-fractional integrals,

$$I_{a+}^{1-s}[u](x) := \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-s)} \int_{a}^{x} \frac{u(t)}{(x-t)^{s}} dt \text{ and } I_{b-}^{1-s}[u](x) := \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-s)} \int_{x}^{b} \frac{u(t)}{(t-x)^{s}} dt,$$

and the classical differentiation which define the Riemann-Liouville s-fractional derivatives. Indeed, it is possible to show that the difference between these two notion of fractional derivatives depends only on the values of u on the endpoints a, b: more precisely,

43

for any $u \in C^1([a, b])$ we have

$$D_{a+}^{s}[u](x) = {}^{C}D_{a+}^{s}u(x) + \frac{u(a)}{\Gamma(1-s)}(x-a)^{-s},$$
$$D_{b-}^{s}[u](x) = {}^{C}D_{b-}^{s}u(x) + \frac{u(b)}{\Gamma(1-s)}(b-x)^{-s}.$$

These relations can be used to derive, at least formally, an interesting relation between these notions of derivatives and the fractional Laplacian on the whole \mathbb{R} (as it was done in [11]). Indeed, by sending $a \to -\infty$ and $b \to +\infty$, we see that the Riemann-Liouville and Caputo fractional derivatives coincide for functions in $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ (or even $C_c^1(\mathbb{R})$). Therefore, we can define the "improper" left and right Riemann-Liouville fractional derivatives of uwith fixed base points $\pm\infty$ as

$$D^{s}_{-\infty}[u](x) := \frac{d}{dx} I^{1-s}_{-\infty}[u](x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-s)} \int_{-\infty}^{x} \frac{u'(t)}{(x-t)^{s}} dt,$$
$$D^{s}_{+\infty}[u](x) := -\frac{d}{dx} I^{1-s}_{+\infty}[u](x) = -\frac{1}{\Gamma(1-s)} \int_{x}^{+\infty} \frac{u'(t)}{(t-x)^{s}} dt.$$

Then, using the equivalent Marchaud formulation (see for instance [30, Section 13]), we can prove that

$$\begin{aligned} D^s_{-\infty}[u](x) + D^s_{+\infty}[u](x) &= \frac{s}{\Gamma(1-s)} \int_0^{+\infty} \frac{2u(x) - u(x+y) - u(x-y)}{y^{s+1}} dy \\ &= \frac{s}{2\Gamma(1-s)} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \frac{2u(x) - u(x+y) - u(x-y)}{|y|^{s+1}} dy \\ &= \frac{s}{2c_s\Gamma(1-s)} \left(-\Delta\right)^{\frac{s}{2}} u(x), \end{aligned}$$

where $(-\Delta)^{\frac{s}{2}}$ denotes the fractional Laplacian of order $\frac{s}{2}$ and

$$c_s := \left(\int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \frac{1 - \cos(\omega)}{|\omega|^{s+1}} d\omega\right)^{-1}$$

In addition, as it has been pointed out also in [33, Section 1], it is easy to see that

$$D^{s}_{-\infty}[u](x) - D^{s}_{+\infty}[u](x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-s)} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \frac{u'(t)}{|x-t|^{s}} dt = \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-s)\nu_{1-s}} I^{1-s}[u'](x),$$

where

$$I^{\sigma}[v](x) := \nu_{\sigma} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \frac{v(t)}{|x-t|^{1-\sigma}} \, dt,$$

is the Riesz potential of order $\sigma \in (0,1)$ of a function $v \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$, and

$$\nu_{\sigma} = \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{1-\sigma}{2}\right)}{2^{\sigma}\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(\frac{\sigma}{2}\right)}.$$

This suggests that we may define a fractional derivative operator on the whole \mathbb{R} for $u \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ by setting

$$\nabla^s u(x) := \mu_s \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \frac{u'(t)}{|x-t|^s} \, dt = \frac{\mu_s}{\nu_{1-s}} I^{1-s}[u'](x),$$

for some multiplicative constant $\mu_s > 0$, so that

$$D^{s}_{-\infty}[u](x) - D^{s}_{+\infty}[u](x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-s)\mu_{s}} \nabla^{s} u(x).$$

This is indeed the one dimensional case of the new notion of fractional gradient on the whole \mathbb{R} , suitable also for a meaningful extension to \mathbb{R}^n , for all $n \geq 1$, which has been investigated in some recent papers, as [13,14,31–34], with the aim of generalizing classical vector calculus rules to the fractional setting, and thus providing a way to define weakly fractionally differentiable functions.

In the case of a bounded open interval I = (a, b), the left (and right) Riemann-Liouville fractional derivatives for regular functions have been widely studied in the literature (we refer the interested reader to the monograph [30] and the bibliography therein), while in recent years it has been considered the case of L^p -functions which admit left (and right) Riemann-Liouville fractional derivatives in a weak sense, thus defining the left (and right) Riemann-Liouville fractional Sobolev spaces $W^{s,p}_{RL,a+}(I)$ (and $W^{s,p}_{RL,b-}(I)$) [7, 8, 25]. In this paper, we answer some questions posed in [7]; namely, we extend [7, Theorem 4.1] from SBV to BV by proving that BV(I), continuously embed into $W^{s,1}_{RL,a+}(I)$ (Theorem 3.4). We actually show also that the embedding $W^{s,1}(I) \hookrightarrow W^{s,1}_{RL,a+}(I)$ is continuous (Proposition 3.7). The continuity of these embeddings can be useful in many variational models involving this kind of fractional operators. In addition, we advance the study of the spaces $W^{s,p}_{RL,a+}(I)$ by proving Sobolev-type embedding theorems (Theorem 6.1) and by considering also the case s > 1. Furthermore, we introduce the space $BV_{RL,a+}^{s}(I)$ of the functions with left Riemann-Liouville s-fractional bounded variation; that is, functions in $L^{1}(I)$ with (1-s)-fractional integral in BV(I). Then, we study some of its properties. For instance, we show that a function $u \in BV^s_{RL,a+}(I)$ belongs to $W^{s,1}_{RL,a+}(I)$ if and only if its distributional left Riemann-Liouville fractional derivative $\mathcal{D}_{a+}^s[u]$ is absolutely continuous with respect to the one-dimensional Lebesgue measure \mathscr{L}^1 (Proposition 4.3). In addition, we extend the case p = 1 of the fractional Sobolev-type embedding by proving that $BV^s_{RL,a+}(I) \hookrightarrow L^{\frac{1}{1-s},\infty}(I)$ (Theorem 6.3).

Since both left and right Riemann-Liouville fractional Sobolev spaces behave exactly in the same way for the results that we are interested into, we shall consider only the left ones. We specify further in the Remarks 2.20 and 2.31 how the two spaces are related and, with a simple counterexample, we show that they do not coincide.

The paper is structured in the following way. In Section 2, after having set some notation and recalled definitions and preliminary notions, we prove some representation formulas for Riemann-Liouville fractional Sobolev functions and duality relations involving the Caputo fractional derivative. Section 3 is devoted to the aforementioned embedding results, and, in addition, to the analysis of the asymptotics as $s \to 1^-$ of the Riemann-Liouville fractional derivative $D_{a+}^{s}[u]$ for a function $u \in BV(I)$. We also provide an extension result for the Riemann-Liouville fractional integral to the space of finite Radon measures on an open bounded interval I, and a counterexample to the embedding results in the case in which the interval is instead unbounded. In Section 4 we define the space $BV_{RL,a+}^{s}(I)$ and we prove that it strictly contains $W_{RL,a+}^{s,1}(I)$ and hence, thanks to Theorem 3.4, also BV(I). Moreover, we show through an example that, despite the regularization properties of the fractional integral, the fractional derivative measure $\mathcal{D}_{a+}^{s}[u]$ of a function $u \in BV^s_{RL,a+}(I)$ does not enjoy any particular absolute continuity property in general, since it may involve Dirac delta measures. In Section 5, we study the continuity of the (1-s)-fractional integral in the Sobolev space $W^{1,p}(I)$ for $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. As a corollary, we obtain the well known result on the inclusion relations between Riemann-Liouville fractional Sobolev spaces. In the case $p = \infty$, we show through a simple example that, if the function does not vanish in the initial point, its Riemann-Liouville fractional derivative cannot be essentially bounded, even if the function is locally analytic. We conclude the section with some results on the improved differentiability properties of $I_{a+}^{s}[u]$ for Sobolev functions $u \in W^{1,p}(I)$. Then, in Section 6 we prove some fractional Sobolevtype embedding theorems for $W^{s,p}_{RL,a+}(I)$ and $BV^s_{RL,a+}(I)$. In Section 7 we extend some results obtained in the rest of the paper by taking into account higher order fractional derivatives; namely, we prove the continuity of the fractional integral between Sobolev spaces of greater integer order and the inclusion of the space of functions with bounded Hessian in a higher order Riemann-Liouville fractional Sobolev space. We conclude the work with some open questions in Section 8.

2. NOTATION AND PRELIMINARIES

Through this paper we shall work on bounded open intervals I = (a, b) in \mathbb{R} , for some $a, b \in \mathbb{R}, a < b$. Following the usual notation, the map $\Gamma : (0, \infty) \to (0, \infty)$ is *Euler's Gamma function*, see [6]. As it is customary, we denote by $\mathcal{M}(V)$ the space of Radon measures on some Borel set $V \subset \mathbb{R}$, and we will consider mainly $\mathcal{M}(I)$ and $\mathcal{M}(\overline{I})$, where $\overline{I} = [a, b]$. We shall say that $\rho \in C_c^{\infty}((-1, 1))$ is a *standard mollifier* if $\rho \ge 0$, $\rho(x) = \rho(-x)$ and $\int_{-1}^1 \rho \, dx = 1$. In addition, for all $\varepsilon > 0$, we set $\rho_{\varepsilon}(x) := \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \rho\left(\frac{x}{\varepsilon}\right)$. For $k \in \mathbb{N}$, $h \in \mathbb{N}_0$,

 $p \in [1, \infty]$ and $\beta \in (0, 1)$ we define the following spaces

$$W_a^{k,p}(I) := \left\{ u \in W^{k,p}(I) : u^{(j)}(a) = 0 \text{ for all } j \in \{0, \dots, k-1\} \right\},\$$

$$C_a^{h,\beta}(\overline{I}) := \left\{ u \in C^{h,\beta}(\overline{I}) : u^{(j)}(a) = 0 \text{ for all } j \in \{0, \dots, h\} \right\},\$$

where

$$C^{h,\beta}(\overline{I}) := \{ u \in C^h(\overline{I}) : u^{(h)} \in C^{0,\beta}(\overline{I}) \}.$$

We employ analogous definitions when the left endpoint a is replaced with the right endpoint b.

For the convenience of the reader we recall in this section the definitions and some properties of a few well known functional spaces.

Definition 2.1. Let $1 \leq p < \infty$. We say that a measurable function u belongs to the weak L^p -space $L^{p,\infty}(I)$ if

$$\sup_{t>0} t^p \mathscr{L}^1(\{x \in I : |u(x)| > t\}) < \infty.$$

The function

$$(0, +\infty) \ni t \to \mathscr{L}^1(\{x \in I : |u(x)| > t\})$$

is called the *distribution function* of u. The space $L^{p,\infty}(I)$ is equipped with the quasi-norm

$$||u||_{L^{p,\infty}(I)} := \sup_{t>0} t \mathscr{L}^1(\{x \in I : |u(x)| > t\})^{\frac{1}{p}}$$

We recall a well known result on the embeddings of the weak L^p spaces on sets with finite measure (see [22, Exercise 1.1.11]).

Lemma 2.2. For all $1 \le r < p$ we have the continuous embeddings

$$L^p(I) \hookrightarrow L^{p,\infty}(I) \hookrightarrow L^r(I),$$

with the estimates

$$||u||_{L^{p,\infty}(I)} \le ||u||_{L^{p}(I)}$$
 for all $u \in L^{p}(I)$,

and

$$\|u\|_{L^{r}(I)} \leq \left(\frac{p}{p-r}\right)^{\frac{1}{r}} (b-a)^{\frac{1}{r}-\frac{1}{p}} \|u\|_{L^{p,\infty}(I)} \text{ for all } u \in L^{p,\infty}(I).$$

2.1. BV functions on the real line.

Definition 2.3. Let U be an open set in \mathbb{R} . We say that $u \in BV(U)$ if $u \in L^1(U)$ and its distributional derivative Du is a finite Radon measure on U; that is, if there exists $\mu \in \mathcal{M}(U)$ such that

$$\int_{U} u(x)\phi'(x)dx = -\int_{U} \phi(x)d\mu(x),$$

for all $\phi \in C_c^1(U)$, in which case we have $\mu = Du$.

The space BV(U) is a Banach space when equipped with the norm

$$||u||_{BV(U)} := ||u||_{L^1(U)} + |Du|(U).$$

In addition, BV functions on the real line are essentially bounded: we recall the statement in the case in which U is a segment.

Lemma 2.4. We have $BV(I) \hookrightarrow L^{\infty}(I)$ with a continuous embedding. In particular,

$$\|u\|_{L^{\infty}(I)} \le \max\left\{1, \frac{1}{b-a}\right\} \|u\|_{BV(I)},\tag{2.1}$$

for all $u \in BV(I)$.

Proof. Thanks to [20, Proof of Lemma 5.21, Claim 3], we know that, for all $u \in BV(I)$ and \mathscr{L}^1 -a.e. $z \in I$,

$$|u(z)| \le \frac{1}{b-a} \int_{a}^{b} |u(x)| \, dx + |Du|(I).$$

Hence, (2.1) follows immediately.

As a consequence, it is not difficult to show that, if $u \in BV(I)$ and we set

$$\tilde{u}(x) = \begin{cases} u(x) & \text{if } x \in I, \\ 0 & \text{if } x \in \mathbb{R} \setminus I, \end{cases}$$
(2.2)

then $\tilde{u} \in BV(\mathbb{R})$. In addition, we may prove that, if $u \in BV(I)$, the approximate limits of u in a from the right, u(a+), and in b from the left, u(b-), exist and they coincide with the precise representative of $2\tilde{u}$ on those points. In other words, we have

$$u(a+) := \lim_{r \to 0} \frac{1}{r} \int_{a}^{a+r} u(x) \, dx \text{ and } u(b-) := \lim_{r \to 0} \frac{1}{r} \int_{b-r}^{b} u(x) \, dx,$$

so that, thanks to Lemma 2.4, we obtain

$$\max\{|u(a+)|, |u(b-)|\} \le \max\left\{1, \frac{1}{b-a}\right\} \|u\|_{BV(I)}.$$
(2.3)

In addition, thanks to [4, Corollary 3.80] it is possible to see that, for any standard mollifier ρ , we have

$$(\rho_{\varepsilon} * u)(a) \to \frac{u(a+)}{2} \text{ and } (\rho_{\varepsilon} * u)(b) \to \frac{u(b-)}{2}.$$
 (2.4)

Finally, it is easy to notice that, consistently with [7, Remark 4.1],

$$D\tilde{u} = Du \sqcup I + u(a+)\delta_a - u(b-)\delta_b, \qquad (2.5)$$

where δ is the Dirac delta measure; while clearly $D\tilde{u} = 0$ in $\mathbb{R} \setminus \overline{I}$.

Remark 2.5. It is well known that $W^{1,p}(I) \hookrightarrow BV(I)$ for all $p \in [1, \infty]$, so that, thanks to Lemma 2.4 and Hölder's inequality, for all Sobolev function $u \in W^{1,p}(I)$ we have

$$\|u\|_{L^{\infty}(I)} \le \max\left\{1, \frac{1}{b-a}\right\} \|u\|_{BV(I)} \le \max\left\{(b-a), 1\right\} (b-a)^{-\frac{1}{p}} \|u\|_{W^{1,p}(I)}$$

As a consequence, the approximate limits of u in a from the right, u(a+), and in b from the left, u(b-), exist and satisfy

$$\max\{|u(a+)|, |u(b-)|\} \le \max\{(b-a), 1\} (b-a)^{-\frac{1}{p}} ||u||_{W^{1,p}(I)}$$

In particular, Sobolev functions on an interval I admit absolutely continuous representatives in $AC(\overline{I})$ (see [4, Theorem 3.28 and Definition 3.31] and the subsequent observations therein). Therefore, in the following we shall identify Sobolev functions with their absolutely continuous representatives, and write u(a), u(b) instead of u(a+), u(b-).

Now, we recall some known facts from Measure Theory. If $\mu \in \mathcal{M}(I)$, then, by the Radon-Nikodym Theorem, we can split it into an absolutely continuous part (with respect to the Lebsegue measure) μ_{ac} , and a singular part μ_s , such that $\mu = \mu_{ac} + \mu_s$. Moreover, we can decompose the singular part μ_s into an atomic measure μ_j and a diffuse measure μ_c ; in this way, we have

$$\mu = \mu_{ac} + \mu_s = \mu_{ac} + \mu_j + \mu_c.$$

In particular, this decomposition induces an analogous decomposition on BV functions on the real line, which does not have a counterpart in higher dimensions. Namely, following [4, Corollary 3.33], for any $u \in BV(I)$ we have

$$u = u_{ac} + u_j + u_c,$$

where $u_{ac} \in W^{1,1}(I)$, u_j is a jump function and u_c is a Cantor function; that is, they satisfy

$$(Du)_{ac} = u'_{ac} \mathscr{L}^1, \quad (Du)_j = Du_j \text{ and } (Du)_c = Du_c.$$

2.2. Fractional Sobolev spaces on the real line. We recall here the definition of Gagliardo-Slobodeckij fractional Sobolev space. For an exhaustive exposition of this theory, we refer the interested reader to [16].

Definition 2.6. Let $s \in (0,1)$ and $p \in [1,\infty)$. We define the *fractional Sobolev space* $W^{s,p}(I)$ as

$$W^{s,p}(I) := \left\{ u \in L^p(I) : (x,y) \to \frac{u(x) - u(y)}{|x - y|^{\frac{1}{p} + s}} \in L^p(I \times I) \right\}.$$

We define the *Gagliardo-Slobodeckij seminorm* of u as

$$[u]_{W^{s,p}(I)} := \left(\int_a^b \int_a^b \frac{|u(x) - u(y)|^p}{|x - y|^{sp+1}} dx dy \right)^{1/p}.$$

The space $W^{s,p}(I)$, endowed with the norm

$$\|u\|_{W^{s,p}(I)} := \|u\|_{L^p(I)} + [u]_{W^{s,p}(I)}$$

is a Banach space, which is Hilbert when p = 2 (see [16]).

Remark 2.7. In the case s > 1, $s = m + \sigma$ for some $m \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\sigma \in (0, 1)$, we say that u belongs to the fractional Sobolev space $W^{s,p}(I)$ if $u \in W^{m,p}(I)$ and $u^{(m)} \in W^{\sigma,p}(I)$.

We recall that the density of smooth compactly supported functions in $W^{s,p}(I)$ is ensured only in some cases.

Theorem 2.8 ([27], Theorem D.2.1.). Let I a bounded open interval, $s \in (0, 1)$ and $1 \le p < \infty$ such that sp < 1.

Then, we have
$$\overline{C_c^{\infty}(I)}^{\|\cdot\|_{W^{s,p}(I)}} = W^{s,p}(I)$$
; that is, $C_c^{\infty}(I)$ is dense in $W^{s,p}(I)$.

Remark 2.9. As a byproduct of Theorem 2.8, we have that also $C_c^1(I)$ is dense in $W^{s,1}(I)$.

Now, we recall a fractional Hardy inequality introduced in [19]. For the sake of simplicity, we state it only in the one dimensional case for open bounded intervals, though the result holds in any dimension and for any open bounded set with Lipschitz boundary; see also [27, Theorem D.1.4] for a different proof.

Lemma 2.10. [27, Theorem D.1.4] Let $s \in (0,1)$, $p \in [1,\infty)$ such that sp < 1 and I = (a, b). Then, there exists c = c(s, p, a, b) > 0 such that

$$\int_{a}^{b} \frac{|u(x)|^{p}}{|\delta_{I}(x)|^{sp}} dx \le c \, \|u\|_{W^{s,p}(I)}^{p} \text{ for all } u \in W^{s,p}(I),$$

where $|\delta_I(x)| := \operatorname{dist}(x, \partial I) = \min\{x - a, b - x\}.$

2.3. Fractional integrals.

Definition 2.11. Let $u \in L^1(I)$ and $s \in (0, 1)$. We define the *left and right Riemann-Liouville s-fractional integrals* as

$$I_{a+}^{s}\left[u\right](x) := \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_{a}^{x} \frac{u(t)}{(x-t)^{1-s}} dt,$$
(2.6)

and

$$I_{b-}^{s}\left[u\right](x) := \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_{x}^{b} \frac{u(t)}{(t-x)^{1-s}} dt.$$
 (2.7)

Remark 2.12. It is not difficult to check that definitions (2.6) and (2.7) are well posed for all $u \in L^1(I)$ and $s \in (0, 1)$. Indeed, we have

$$\begin{split} \|I_{a+}^{s}\left[|u|\right]\|_{L^{1}(I)} &= \frac{1}{\Gamma\left(s\right)} \int_{a}^{b} \int_{a}^{x} \frac{|u(t)|}{(x-t)^{1-s}} \, dt \, dx = \frac{1}{\Gamma\left(s\right)} \int_{a}^{b} \int_{t}^{b} \frac{|u(t)|}{(x-t)^{1-s}} \, dx \, dt \\ &= \frac{1}{s\Gamma\left(s\right)} \int_{a}^{b} |u(t)| (b-t)^{s} \, dt \le \frac{(b-a)^{s}}{\Gamma\left(s+1\right)} \|u\|_{L^{1}(I)}, \end{split}$$

so that $I_{a+}^{s}[|u|] \in L^{1}(I)$, which implies $I_{a+}^{s}[u] \in L^{1}(I)$ with the same bound on the L^{1} norm. In particular, $I_{a+}^{s}[u](x)$ is well defined for \mathscr{L}^{1} -a.e. $x \in I$. A similar argument shows that also $I_{b-}^{s}[u] \in L^{1}(I)$, with

$$\|I_{b-}^{s}[u]\|_{L^{1}(I)} \leq \frac{(b-a)^{s}}{\Gamma(s+1)} \|u\|_{L^{1}(I)},$$

so that $I_{b-}^{s}[u]$ is well defined almost everywhere in I.

For the ease of the reader, we summarize in the following Propositions 2.15 and 2.18 some results on the continuity properties of I_{a+}^s presented in [30, Section 3] and [24, Theorem 4]. As a preliminary result, we recall here the known fact that *s*-Riemann-Liouville fractional integrals are continuous mappings from $L^1(I)$ into $L^{\frac{1}{1-s},\infty}(I)$, in analogy with the continuity properties of the Riesz potential of order *s* on the whole \mathbb{R} , defined as

$$I^{s}[v](x) := \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{1-s}{2}\right)}{2^{s}\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(\frac{s}{2}\right)} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \frac{v(t)}{|x-t|^{1-s}} dt, \qquad (2.8)$$

for $v \in L^1(\mathbb{R})$, for which we refer to [35, Chapter 5] and [23, Chapter 1], for instance.

Lemma 2.13. Let $s \in (0,1)$. The fractional integral I_{a+}^s is a weak type $\left(1, \frac{1}{1-s}\right)$ operator; namely, there exists $C_s > 0$ such that

$$\mathscr{L}^{1}\left(\left\{x \in I : |I_{a+}^{s}[u](x)| > t\right\}\right) \le C_{s}\left(\frac{\|u\|_{L^{1}(I)}}{t}\right)^{\frac{1}{1-s}} \text{ for all } u \in L^{1}(I).$$
(2.9)

Proof. Given $u \in L^1(I)$, we set

$$\tilde{u}(x) := \begin{cases} u(x) & \text{if } x \in I \\ 0 & \text{if } x \notin I, \end{cases}$$

and, for $c \in \mathbb{R}$, we set $H_c(x) := H(x - c)$, where H denotes the Heaviside function $H(x) := \chi_{(0,+\infty)}(x)$. Clearly, we have

$$||u||_{L^{1}(I)} = ||\tilde{u}||_{L^{1}(\mathbb{R})} = ||\tilde{u}H_{a}||_{L^{1}(\mathbb{R})}$$

Now, we notice that, for \mathscr{L}^1 -a.e. $x \in I$,

$$I_{a+}^{s}[u](x) = I_{a+}^{s}[\tilde{u}](x),$$

and

$$I_{a+}^{s}[\tilde{u}](x) = ((\tilde{u}H_{a}) * (KH))(x), \qquad (2.10)$$

where * denotes the usual convolution operator on \mathbb{R} , and $K(y) := \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)|y|^{1-s}}$. In addition, for all $x \in \mathbb{R}$ we have

$$|I_{a+}^{s}[\tilde{u}](x)| \leq ((|\tilde{u}|H_{a}) * K)(x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \frac{|\tilde{u}|(t)H_{a}(t)}{|x-t|^{1-s}} dt = c_{s}I^{s}(|\tilde{u}|H_{a})(x),$$

where I^s is the Riesz potential of order s on the whole \mathbb{R} , as defined in (2.8), and

$$c_s = \frac{2^s \sqrt{\pi} \Gamma\left(\frac{s}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(s) \Gamma\left(\frac{1-s}{2}\right)}.$$

Thus, thanks to the weak type $\left(1, \frac{1}{1-s}\right)$ estimates for the Riesz potentials on the whole \mathbb{R} (see [35, Chapter 5, Theorem 1] and [23, Theorem 1.2.3]), there exists a constant $C_s > 0$ such that, for all t > 0,

$$\begin{aligned} \mathscr{L}^1\left(\left\{x \in I : |I_{a+}^s[u](x)| > t\right\}\right) &= \mathscr{L}^1\left(\left\{x \in I : |I_{a+}^s[\tilde{u}](x)| > t\right\}\right) \\ &\leq \mathscr{L}^1\left(\left\{x \in \mathbb{R} : c_s I^s(|\tilde{u}|H_a)(x) > t\right\}\right) \\ &\leq C_s\left(\frac{\|\tilde{u}H_a\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R})}}{t}\right)^{\frac{1}{1-s}} = C_s\left(\frac{\|u\|_{L^1(I)}}{t}\right)^{\frac{1}{1-s}}. \end{aligned}$$
ends the proof.

This ends the proof.

Remark 2.14. We notice that also I_{b-}^s is a weak type $\left(1, \frac{1}{1-s}\right)$ operator. Indeed, using the same notation as in the proof of Lemma 2.13, it is enough to observe that

$$I_{b-}^s[\tilde{u}] = (\tilde{u}H_b) * (KH_-),$$

where $H_b(x) := H(b-x)$ and $H_-(x) := H(-x)$. Then the proof is analogous.

Proposition 2.15 (Continuity properties of the fractional integral in L^p spaces). Let $s \in (0,1)$. The fractional integral I_{a+}^s is a continuous operator

(1) from
$$L^p(I)$$
 into $L^p(I)$ for all $p \in [1, \infty]$

- (2) from $L^1(I)$ into $L^{\frac{1}{1-s},\infty}(I)$, and so into $L^r(I)$, for all $r \in [1, \frac{1}{1-s})$,
- (3) from $L^p(I)$ into $L^r(I)$ for all $p \in \left(1, \frac{1}{s}\right)$ and $r \in \left[1, \frac{p}{1-sp}\right]$,
- (4) from $L^p(I)$ into $C^{0,s-\frac{1}{p}}(\overline{I})$ for all $p \in (\frac{1}{s},\infty)$,
- (5) from $L^{1/s}(I)$ into $L^r(I)$ for all $r \in [1, \infty)$,
- (6) from $L^{\infty}(I)$ into $C^{0,s}(\overline{I})$.

Proof. Point (2) is a straightforward consequence of Lemmas 2.13 and 2.2, while the other points follow from [30, Section 3] and [24, Theorem 4].

Remark 2.16. We notice that point (i) of Proposition 2.15 is a consequence of a generalized Minkowski inequality, as observed in the proof of [30, Theorem 2.6.]. Alternatively, we may use the fact that I_{a+}^s is bounded from $L^1(I)$ into $L^1(I)$, thanks to Remark 2.12, and from $L^{\infty}(I)$ to $L^{\infty}(I)$, thanks to the trivial estimate

$$|I_{a+}^{s}[u](x)| \leq \frac{(b-a)^{s}}{\Gamma(s+1)} \, \|u\|_{L^{\infty}(I)} \text{ for } \mathscr{L}^{1}\text{-a.e. } x \in I,$$

so that we can apply the Riesz-Thorin Theorem [22, Theorem 1.3.4] to get the continuity from $L^p(I)$ into $L^p(I)$ for all 1 . In particular, since the constants of continuity from $L^1(I)$ into $L^1(I)$ and from $L^{\infty}(I)$ into $L^{\infty}(I)$ coincide, the Riesz-Thorin Theorem gives a bound for the constant of continuity $C_{s,p}$ from $L^p(I)$ into $L^p(I)$, namely,

$$C_{s,p} \leq \frac{(b-a)^s}{\Gamma(s+1)}$$
 for all $p \in [1,\infty]$.

This shows that $C_{s,p}$ is uniformly bounded in $p \in [1, \infty]$.

Corollary 2.17. Let $s \in (0, 1)$. The fractional integral I_{a+}^s is a continuous operator from BV(I) into $C^{0,s}(\overline{I})$.

Proof. The statement follows by combining Lemma 2.1 and the last point of Proposition 2.15. $\hfill \Box$

Proposition 2.18 (Continuity properties of the fractional integral in Hölder spaces). Let $s \in (0, 1)$ and $\alpha \in (0, 1]$. The fractional integral I_{a+}^s is a continuous operator

- $(1) \ \textit{from} \ C^{0,\alpha}_a(\overline{I}) \ \textit{onto} \ C^{0,\alpha+s}_a(\overline{I}) \ \textit{if} \ \alpha+s<1,$
- (2) from $C^{0,\alpha}_a(\overline{I})$ onto $H^{1,1}_a(\overline{I})$ if $\alpha + s = 1$,
- (3) from $C_a^{0,\alpha}(\overline{I})$ onto $C_a^{1,\alpha+s-1}(\overline{I})$ if $\alpha+s>1$,

where $H_a^{1,1}(\overline{I})$ is the space of functions $f \in C^0(\overline{I})$ that satisfy f(a) = 0 and admit $\omega(h) = |h| \log |h||$ as a local modulus of continuity; namely, for which there exists C > 0 such that

$$|f(x+h) - f(x)| \le C|h| |\log |h|| \text{ for all } h \in (a-x, b-x) \setminus \{0\} \text{ and } x \in \overline{I}.$$

Proof. We refer to [30, Theorem 3.1], [30, Lemma 13.1] and the subsequent remark therein for the proof of the continuity of I_{a+}^s in the cases $\alpha + s \leq 1$ and $\alpha + s > 1$ respectively. Then, we have that the operator I_{a+}^s is also onto by [30, Theorem 13.17], which actually holds for functions with a more general modulus of continuity and that vanish in the endpoint a.

We recall now the semigroup law, one of the most useful property of the fractional integrals, for which we refer to [30, Section 2.3, formula (2.21)] (see also [30, Theorem 2.5]).

Lemma 2.19 (Semigroup law). Let $\alpha, \beta \in (0, 1)$ such that $\alpha + \beta \leq 1$ and $u \in L^1(I)$. Then, we have

$$I_{a+}^{\alpha}[I_{a+}^{\beta}[u]] = I_{a+}^{\alpha+\beta}[u],$$

where $I^1_{a+}[u](x) := \int_a^x u(t)dt$.

Remark 2.20. As stated in [30, Section 2.3], the operators I_{a+}^s and I_{b-}^s are related by a simple change of variable through the following formula

$$I_{a+}^{s}[u](Q(x)) = I_{b-}^{s}[u_{Q}(\cdot)](x),$$

where Q(x) := b + a - x and $u_Q(\cdot) := u(Q(\cdot))$.

We recall now a simple duality relation between I_{a+}^s and I_{b-}^s , which shall prove to be useful in the sequel.

Lemma 2.21. Let $u, v \in L^1(I)$ and $s \in (0, 1)$. Then we have

$$\int_{a}^{b} I_{a+}^{s}[u](x) v(x) \, dx = \int_{a}^{b} u(x) \, I_{b-}^{s}[v](x) \, dx.$$
(2.11)

Proof. By Fubini's Theorem, we have

$$\int_{a}^{b} I_{a+}^{s}[u](x) v(x) dx = \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_{a}^{b} \int_{a}^{x} \frac{u(t)}{(x-t)^{1-s}} v(x) dt dx$$
$$= \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_{a}^{b} \int_{t}^{b} \frac{v(x)}{(x-t)^{1-s}} u(t) dx dt$$
$$= \int_{a}^{b} u(t) I_{b-}^{s}[v](t) dt.$$

We conclude this section by recalling a well known result on the convergence of I_{a+}^s to the identity operator as $s \to 0^+$.

Lemma 2.22. For any $u \in L^1(I)$ we have $||I_{a+}^s[u] - u||_{L^1(I)} \to 0$ as $s \to 0^+$. In particular, if $u \in C^1(\overline{I})$, then $I_{a+}^s[u](x) \to u(x)$ for all $x \in I$ and it holds that

$$I_{a+}^{s}[u](x) = \frac{u(a)}{\Gamma(s+1)}(x-a)^{s} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(s+1)}\int_{a}^{x} u'(t)(x-t)^{s} dt.$$
 (2.12)

Analogous statements hold for I_{b-}^s .

Proof. We start by assuming that $u \in C^1(\overline{I})$, then, thanks to a simple integration by parts, equality (2.12) immediately follows. Thus, letting $s \to 0^+$ we immediately obtain pointwise convergence, and by Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem we have convergence in $L^1(I)$. Otherwise, if $u \in L^1(I)$, for any $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists $v \in C^1(\overline{I})$ such that

$$\|v - u\|_{L^1(I)} \le \varepsilon.$$

Then, by Remark 2.12, we have

$$\begin{split} \|I_{a+}^{s}[u] - u\|_{L^{1}(I)} &\leq \|I_{a+}^{s}[u - v]\|_{L^{1}(I)} + \|I_{a+}^{s}[v] - v\|_{L^{1}(I)} + \|v - u\|_{L^{1}(I)} \\ &\leq \max\left\{1, \frac{(b - a)^{s}}{\Gamma(s + 1)}\right\}\|v - u\|_{L^{1}(I)} + \|I_{a+}^{s}[v] - v\|_{L^{1}(I)} \\ &\leq \max\left\{1, \frac{(b - a)^{s}}{\Gamma(s + 1)}\right\}\varepsilon + \|I_{a+}^{s}[v] - v\|_{L^{1}(I)}. \end{split}$$

This implies that

$$\limsup_{s \to 0^+} \|I_{a+}^s[u] - u\|_{L^1(I)} \le \varepsilon,$$

so that the claim is proved, since ε is arbitrary.

2.4. Fractional derivatives.

Definition 2.23 (Riemann-Liouville fractional derivatives). Let $s \in (0,1)$. For any $u: I \to \mathbb{R}$ sufficiently smooth, so that $I_{a+}^{1-s}[u]$ and $I_{b-}^{1-s}[u]$ are differentiable, we define the *left and right Riemann-Liouville s-fractional derivatives* of u as

$$D_{a+}^{s}\left[u\right](x) := \frac{d}{dx} I_{a+}^{1-s}\left[u\right](x), \qquad (2.13)$$

and

$$D_{b-}^{s}\left[u\right](x) := -\frac{d}{dx} I_{b-}^{1-s}\left[u\right](x) \,. \tag{2.14}$$

Remark 2.24. As a consequence of the preceding Proposition 2.18, for $0 < s < \alpha < 1$ and $u \in C_a^{0,\alpha}(\overline{I})$, we have $I_{a+}^{1-s}[u] \in C_a^{1,\alpha-s}(\overline{I})$. Therefore, α -Hölder continuity with $\alpha > s$ is a sufficient condition to ensure the existence of (2.13) and (2.14).

If one applies the Riemann-Liouville fractional integrals to the first derivative u', whenever this operation makes sense, one has the following alternative definitions of left and right fractional derivatives.

Definition 2.25 (Caputo fractional derivatives). Let $s \in (0, 1)$. For any $u \in C^1(\overline{I})$ we define the *left and right Caputo s-fractional derivatives* of u as

$${}^{C}D^{s}_{a+}[u](x) := I^{1-s}_{a+}[u'](x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-s)} \int_{a}^{x} \frac{u'(t)}{(x-t)^{s}} dt.$$
(2.15)

$${}^{C}D_{b-}^{s}[u](x) := -I_{b-}^{1-s}[u'](x) = -\frac{1}{\Gamma(1-s)} \int_{x}^{b} \frac{u'(t)}{(t-x)^{s}} dt.$$
(2.16)

We notice that the minimal functional spaces in which (2.15) and (2.16) are well defined are given by

$$C_{a+}^{1,s} := \left\{ f : \overline{(a, +\infty)} \to \mathbb{R} : f \in AC(\overline{(a, t)}) \right\}$$

and $\Theta_{s,f,t} \in L^1((a, t)), \text{ for all } t > a \right\}.$ (2.17)

and

$$C_{b-}^{1,s} := \left\{ f : \overline{(-\infty,b)} \to \mathbb{R} : f \in AC(\overline{(t,b)}) \right\}$$

and $\Psi_{s,f,t} \in L^1((t,b)), \text{ for all } t < b \right\}.$ (2.18)

where

$$(a,t) \ni \tau \mapsto \Theta_{s,f,t}(\tau) := f'(\tau)(t-\tau)^{-s}$$

and

$$(t,b) \ni \tau \mapsto \Psi_{s,f,t}(\tau) := f'(\tau)(\tau-t)^{-s};$$

see *e.g.* [10] for more details about this fact. We remark that, in the notation of [10], the space $C_{a+}^{1,s}$ is the space $C_{a}^{k,\beta}$ with k = 1 and $\beta = s$, while the function $\Theta_{s,f,t}$ is $\Theta_{1,s,f,t}$.

For $u \in AC(\overline{I})$, a simple computation relates Riemann-Liouville and the Caputo fractional derivatives. Indeed, by formula (2.12) with 1 - s in place of s we have

$$\frac{1}{\Gamma(1-s)} \int_{a}^{x} \frac{u(t)}{(x-t)^{s}} dt = \frac{u(a)}{\Gamma(2-s)} (x-a)^{1-s} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(2-s)} \int_{a}^{x} u'(t) (x-t)^{1-s} dt.$$
(2.19)

Hence, differentiating in x on both sides of (2.19) we obtain the following formula

$$D_{a+}^{s}[u](x) = {}^{C}D_{a+}^{s}u(x) + \frac{u(a)}{\Gamma(1-s)}(x-a)^{-s}.$$
(2.20)

Analogously, for right derivatives we have

$$D_{b-}^{s}[u](x) = {}^{C}D_{b-}^{s}u(x) + \frac{u(b)}{\Gamma(1-s)}(b-x)^{-s}.$$
(2.21)

Therefore, Riemann-Liouville and Caputo fractional derivatives coincide for all $u \in AC(\overline{I})$ that vanish in the initial point a for left derivatives, or in the final point b for right derivatives.

We also notice that, if $u \in AC(\overline{I})$, we can exploit formula (2.20) to obtain another representation of the left Riemann-Liouville fractional derivative:

$$D_{a+}^{s}[u](x) = \frac{u(a)}{\Gamma(1-s)(x-a)^{s}} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-s)} \int_{a}^{x} \frac{u'(t)}{(x-t)^{s}} dt$$

$$= \frac{u(a)}{\Gamma(1-s)(x-a)^{s}} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-s)} \int_{a}^{x} u'(t) \left(s \int_{x-t}^{x-a} \xi^{-s-1} d\xi + \frac{1}{(x-a)^{s}}\right) dt$$

$$= \frac{u(x)}{\Gamma(1-s)(x-a)^{s}} + \frac{s}{\Gamma(1-s)} \int_{0}^{x-a} \int_{x-\xi}^{x} u'(t) \xi^{-s-1} dt d\xi$$

$$= \frac{u(x)}{\Gamma(1-s)(x-a)^{s}} + \frac{s}{\Gamma(1-s)} \int_{0}^{x-a} \frac{u(x) - u(x-\xi)}{\xi^{s+1}} d\xi$$

$$= \frac{u(x)}{\Gamma(1-s)(x-a)^{s}} + \frac{s}{\Gamma(1-s)} \int_{a}^{x} \frac{u(x) - u(t)}{(x-t)^{s+1}} dt.$$
(2.22)

This different representation formula of the left Riemann-Liouville fractional derivative is known as the *left Marchaud fractional derivative*:

$${}^{M}D^{s}_{a+}[u](x) := \frac{u(x)}{\Gamma(1-s)(x-a)^{s}} + \frac{s}{\Gamma(1-s)} \int_{a}^{x} \frac{u(x) - u(t)}{(x-t)^{s+1}} dt;$$

For a precise treatment of this fractional differential operator, we refer to [21] and [30].

Now, we recall the notion of L^p -representability.

Definition 2.26. Let $1 \leq q \leq \infty$ and $u \in L^q(I)$. We say that u is L^p -representable if $u \in I^s_{a+}(L^p(I))$ or $u \in I^s_{b-}(L^p(I))$ for some $1 \leq p \leq q$ and $s \in (0, 1)$.

From Proposition 2.15, we see that, for all $1 \le p \le \infty$ and $s \in (0, 1)$, we have

$$I^s_{a+}(L^p(I)) \hookrightarrow L^p(I).$$

However, the above definition is nontrivial since the inclusion is strict, as it is shown by the following example.

Example 2.27. Consider

$$u(x) := \frac{(x-a)^{s-1}}{\Gamma(s)}$$

for some $s \in (0, 1)$. Then we have $u \in L^p(I)$ for all $1 \le p < \frac{1}{1-s}$, and, for all $x \in I$, we see that

$$I_{a+}^{1-s}[u](x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-s)\Gamma(s)} \int_{a}^{x} (t-a)^{s-1} (x-t)^{-s} dt = \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-s)\Gamma(s)} \int_{0}^{1} \sigma^{s-1} (1-\sigma)^{-s} d\sigma$$
$$= \frac{\beta(s,1-s)}{\Gamma(1-s)\Gamma(s)} = 1,$$
(2.23)

by the properties of Euler's beta function β (or Euler's first integral, see [6]). Therefore, we conclude that

$$D_{a+}^{s}[u](x) = 0 \text{ for all } x \in I,$$
 (2.24)

while the left Caputo s-fractional derivative is not well defined. We prove now that the equation

$$I_{a+}^{s}[f] = u (2.25)$$

has no solution in $L^p(I)$. In fact, suppose by contradiction that there exists $f \in L^p(I)$ satisfying (2.25). If we apply the (1-s)-fractional integral on both sides of (2.25), thanks to Lemma 2.19 and (2.23), we get

$$\int_{a}^{x} f(t) dt = I_{a+}^{1}[f](x) = I_{a+}^{1-s}[I_{a+}^{s}[f]](x) = I_{a+}^{1-s}[u](x) = 1,$$

for all $x \in I$. Therefore, differentiating on both sides of the equation, we obtain f = 0, which is clearly a contradiction.

The next lemma gives a characterization of L^p -representability. We are going to state and prove it only in the case of left fractional integral, the other case being analogous.

Lemma 2.28 (L^p -representability criterion). Let $q \in [1, \infty]$, $u \in L^q(I)$, $s \in (0, 1)$ and $p \in [1, q]$. We have that $u \in I^s_{a+}(L^p(I))$ if and only if $I^{1-s}_{a+}[u] \in W^{1,p}(I)$ and $I^{1-s}_{a+}[u](a) = 0$.

Proof. If $u \in I_{a+}^s(L^p(I))$, then $u = I_{a+}^s[f]$ for some $f \in L^p(I)$; therefore, using Lemma 2.19, we get

$$I_{a+}^{1-s}[u](x) = I_{a+}^{1-s}[I_{a+}^s[f]](x) = I_{a+}^1[f](x) = \int_a^x f(t)dt \in W^{1,p}(I)$$

and $I_{a+}^{1-s}[u](a) = I_{a+}^{1}[f](a) = 0$. On the other hand, if $I_{a+}^{1-s}[u] \in W^{1,p}(I)$ and $I_{a+}^{1-s}[u](a) = 0$, then $I_{a+}^{1-s}[u]$ admits an absolutely continuous representative, its pointwise derivative $D_{a+}^{s}[u]$ is well defined \mathscr{L}^{1} -a.e. and satisfies

$$I_{a+}^{1-s}[u](x) = \int_{a}^{x} D_{a+}^{s}[u](t)dt = I_{a+}^{1}[D_{a+}^{s}[u]](x) = I_{a+}^{1-s}[I_{a+}^{s}[D_{a+}^{s}[u]]](x),$$
(2.26)

where we used Lemma 2.19 in the last equality. Therefore, by applying D_{a+}^{1-s} to both sides of the equation and exploiting (2.26), we conclude that, for \mathscr{L}^1 -a.e. $x \in I$,

$$\begin{split} u(x) &= \frac{d}{dx} \int_{a}^{x} u(t) \, dt = \frac{d}{dx} I_{a+}^{s} [I_{a+}^{1-s}[u]](x) = D_{a+}^{1-s} [I_{a+}^{1-s}[u]](x) \\ &= D_{a+}^{1-s} [I_{a+}^{1-s}[I_{a+}^{s}[D_{a+}^{s}[u]]]](x) = \frac{d}{dx} I_{a+}^{s} [I_{a+}^{1-s}[I_{a+}^{s}[D_{a+}^{s}[u]]]](x) \\ &= \frac{d}{dx} \int_{a}^{x} I_{a+}^{s} [D_{a+}^{s}[u]](t) \, dt = I_{a+}^{s} [D_{a+}^{s}[u]](x), \end{split}$$

with $D_{a+}^{s}[u] \in L^{p}(I)$, since $I_{a+}^{1-s}[u] \in W^{1,p}(I)$; so that $u \in I_{a+}^{s}(L^{p}(I))$, and this concludes the proof.

2.5. Riemann-Liouville fractional Sobolev spaces. We introduce now the left Riemann-Liouville fractional Sobolev spaces.

Definition 2.29 (Riemann-Liouville fractional Sobolev spaces). Let $p \in [1, \infty]$ and $s \in (0, 1)$. We define the *left Riemann-Liouville fractional Sobolev space* of order s and summability p as

$$W_{RL,a+}^{s,p}(I) := \left\{ u \in L^p(I) : \ I_{a+}^{1-s}[u] \in W^{1,p}(I) \right\}.$$
(2.27)

Remark 2.30. Clearly, it is possible to define in an analogous way the *right Riemann-Liouville fractional Sobolev spaces*

$$W^{s,p}_{RL,b-}(I) := \left\{ u \in L^p(I) : \ I^{1-s}_{b-}[u] \in W^{1,p}(I) \right\}.$$

Remark 2.31. We notice that, if $u \in W^{s,1}_{RL,a+}(I)$, we have $u_Q \in W^{s,1}_{RL,b-}(I)$, thanks to Remark 2.20. However, this does not necessarily imply that $u \in W^{s,1}_{RL,b-}(I)$. Indeed, let I = (0,1) and consider

$$u(x) := \frac{x^{s-1}}{\Gamma(s)}.$$

By Example 2.27, we have $I_{0+}^{1-s}[u](x) = 1$ for any $x \in I$, and so $I_{0+}^{1-s}[u] \in W^{1,1}((0,1))$. On the other hand, we have

$$I_{1-}^{1-s}[u](x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-s)\Gamma(s)} \int_{x}^{1} t^{s-1}(t-x)^{-s} dt = \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-s)\Gamma(s)} \int_{1}^{\frac{1}{x}} \omega^{s-1}(\omega-1)^{-s} d\omega,$$

and this function belongs to $L^1((0,1)) \setminus W^{1,1}((0,1))$. It is easy to check the L^1 -summability. On the other hand, for any $\varphi \in C_c^1(I)$, we have

$$\int_{0}^{1} I_{1-}^{1-s}[u](x)\varphi'(x) \, dx = \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-s)\Gamma(s)} \int_{0}^{1} \int_{1}^{\frac{1}{x}} \omega^{s-1}(\omega-1)^{-s}\varphi'(x) \, d\omega \, dx$$
$$= \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-s)\Gamma(s)} \int_{1}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\frac{1}{\omega}} \omega^{s-1}(\omega-1)^{-s}\varphi'(x) \, dx \, d\omega$$
$$= \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-s)\Gamma(s)} \int_{1}^{\infty} \omega^{s-1}(\omega-1)^{-s}\varphi\left(\frac{1}{\omega}\right) \, d\omega$$
$$= \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-s)\Gamma(s)} \int_{0}^{1} \tau^{1-s}(1-\tau)^{-s}\tau^{s}\varphi(\tau) \, \frac{d\tau}{\tau^{2}}$$
$$= \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-s)\Gamma(s)} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{1}{\tau(1-\tau)^{s}}\varphi(\tau) \, d\tau,$$

which means that the weak derivative of $I_{1-}^{1-s}[u](x)$ is

$$-\frac{1}{\Gamma(1-s)\Gamma(s)}\frac{1}{x(1-x)^s},$$

and so we conclude that

$$D_{1-}^{s}[u](x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-s)\Gamma(s)} \frac{1}{x(1-x)^{s}} \notin L^{1}(I).$$

Remark 2.20 actually shows that $u \in W^{s,p}_{RL,a+}(I)$ if and only if $u_Q \in W^{s,p}_{RL,b-}(I)$, where Q(x) = a + b - x, though Remark 2.31 clarifies that $W^{s,p}_{RL,a+}(I) \neq W^{s,p}_{RL,b-}(I)$, in general. Nevertheless, since our results are analogous both for left and for right fractional integrals and derivatives, from this point on we shall work with the left Riemann-Liouville fractional Sobolev spaces.

It is not difficult to see that the space $W^{s,p}_{RL,a+}(I)$, endowed with the norm

$$\|u\|_{W^{s,p}_{RL,a+}(I)} := \|u\|_{L^{p}(I)} + \left\|I^{1-s}_{a+}[u]\right\|_{W^{1,p}(I)}, \qquad (2.28)$$

is a Banach space.

In the light of Definition 2.29, we may rephrase Lemma 2.28 in the following way.

Lemma 2.32. Let $s \in (0,1)$ and $p \in [1,\infty]$. Then, $u \in I_{a+}^{s}(L^{p}(I))$ if and only if $u \in W_{RL,a+}^{s,p}(I)$ and $I_{a+}^{1-s}[u](a) = 0$.

We consider now a version of the fundamental Theorem of Calculus for left Riemann-Liouville fractional derivatives. A similar result was stated in [8, Proposition 5], however we provide here a short proof, for completeness.

Lemma 2.33. Let $s \in (0,1)$ and $u \in L^1(I)$. Then, for \mathscr{L}^1 -a.e. $x \in I$, we have

$$u(x) = D_{a+}^{s}[I_{a+}^{s}[u]](x).$$
(2.29)

If $u \in W^{s,1}_{RL,a+}(I)$, then, for \mathscr{L}^1 -a.e. $x \in I$, we also have

$$u(x) = I_{a+}^{s} [D_{a+}^{s}[u]](x) + \frac{I_{a+}^{1-s}[u](a)}{\Gamma(s)} (x-a)^{s-1}.$$
(2.30)

Finally, if $u \in W^{s,1}_{RL,a+}(I) \cap I^s_{a+}(L^1(I))$, then

$$u(x) = D_{a+}^{s}[I_{a+}^{s}[u]](x) = I_{a+}^{s}[D_{a+}^{s}[u]](x) \text{ for } \mathscr{L}^{1}\text{-a.e. } x \in I.$$
(2.31)

Proof. If $u \in L^1(I)$, we have $I_{a+}^s[u] \in L^1(I)$, by Remark 2.12, and, by Lemma 2.19,

$$I_{a+}^{1-s}[I_{a+}^{s}[u]](x) = I_{a+}^{1}[u](x) = \int_{a}^{x} u(t)dt \in W^{1,1}(I)$$

Therefore, for \mathscr{L}^1 -a.e. $x \in I$, we get

$$D_{a+}^{s}[I_{a+}^{s}[u]](x) = \frac{d}{dx}I_{a+}^{1-s}[I_{a+}^{s}[u]](x) = \frac{d}{dx}(I_{a+}^{1}[u](x)) = u(x).$$

In order to prove (2.30), we notice that $I_{a+}^{1-s}[u] \in W^{1,1}(I)$ with weak derivative $D_{a+}^{s}[u] \in L^{1}(I)$, so that, for \mathscr{L}^{1} -a.e. $x \in I$,

$$\begin{split} I_{a+}^{1-s}[u](x) &= \int_{a}^{x} D_{a+}^{s}[u](t)dt + I_{a+}^{1-s}[u](a) \\ &= I_{a+}^{1-s}[I_{a+}^{s}[D_{a+}^{s}[u]]](x) + I_{a+}^{1-s}\left[\frac{I_{a+}^{1-s}[u](a)}{\Gamma(s)}(\cdot - a)^{s-1}\right](x), \end{split}$$

by Lemma 2.19 and (2.23). We notice that, by Remark 2.12, $I_{a+}^s[D_{a+}^s[u]] \in L^1(I)$, since $D_{a+}^s[u] \in L^1(I)$ by assumption. Therefore, we apply D_{a+}^{1-s} to both sides of the equation and use (2.29) to obtain (2.30). Finally, if $u \in W_{RL,a+}^{s,1}(I) \cap I_{a+}^s(L^1(I))$, then, by Lemma 2.28 with p = q = 1, we have $I_{a+}^{1-s}[u](a) = 0$, and this ends the proof.

We notice that, in an analogous way, it is possible to find a version of the Fundamental Theorem of Calculus for right Riemann-Liouville derivatives (see [8, Proposition 6]).

Remark 2.34. It is worth noticing that these equalities are stable when $s \to 1^-$ for $u \in C^1(\overline{I})$. Indeed, we have

$$u(x) = \lim_{s \to 1^{-}} D^{s}_{a+}[I^{s}_{a+}[u]](x) = \frac{d}{dx} \left(\int_{a}^{x} u(t)dt \right) = \int_{a}^{x} u'(t)dt + u(a)$$
$$= \lim_{s \to 1^{-}} I^{s}_{a+}[D^{s}_{a+}[u]](x) + \frac{I^{1-s}_{a+}[u](a)}{\Gamma(s)}(x-a)^{s-1},$$

where the second equality exploits Lemma 2.22.

We point out that there is a duality relation between the left Riemann-Liouville fractional derivative and the Caputo right fractional derivative, as shown in the following lemma. **Lemma 2.35.** Let $u \in W^{s,1}_{RL,a+}(I)$, $v \in C^1_c(I)$ and $s \in (0,1)$. Then we have

$$\int_{a}^{b} D_{a+}^{s}[u](x) v(x) dx = \int_{a}^{b} u(x) {}^{C} D_{b-}^{s}[v](x) dx.$$
(2.32)

Proof. Integrating by parts, and using Fubini's theorem, we have

$$\int_{a}^{b} D_{a+}^{s}[u](x)v(x)dx = -\int_{a}^{b} I_{a+}^{1-s}[u](x)v'(x)dx$$

$$= -\frac{1}{\Gamma(1-s)}\int_{a}^{b}\int_{a}^{x} \frac{u(t)}{(x-t)^{s}}v'(x)dtdx$$

$$= -\frac{1}{\Gamma(1-s)}\int_{a}^{b}\int_{t}^{b} \frac{v'(x)}{(x-t)^{s}}u(t)dxdt$$

$$= \int_{a}^{b} u(t)^{C} D_{b-}^{s}[v](t)dt.$$

We notice that, in light of the continuity of the fractional integral in L^p given by Proposition 2.15, the norm in (2.28) is equivalent to the one given by

$$||u|| := ||u||_{L^{p}(I)} + ||D^{s}_{a+}[u]||_{L^{p}(I)}.$$

Therefore, one could define the space $W^{s,p}_{RL,a+}(I)$ simply requiring that $u \in L^p(I)$ has a weak fractional derivative in $L^p(I)$. This would mean that there exists a function $w \in L^p(I)$ such that

$$\int_{a}^{b} u(x) {}^{C} D_{b-}^{s}[v](x) \, dx = \int_{a}^{b} w(x) \, v(x) \, dx,$$

for any $v \in C_c^1(I)$, in analogy with the duality formula (2.32).

3. Main embedding and asymptotic results

We start with a technical result concerning the action of the fractional integral on $\mathcal{M}(I)$. In what follows, for any $\mu \in \mathcal{M}(I)$ and $x \in I$, we shall use the notation $\int_a^x f \, d\mu$ to denote the integral on the open interval (a, x) of some Borel measurable function f. This choice is justified by the fact that $|\mu|(\{x\}) = 0$ for all but countably many $x \in (a, b)$, thanks to the nonconcentration properties of Radon measures. As a consequence, there is no ambiguity when integrating the function $x \to \int_a^x f \, d\mu$ in dx over I.

Proposition 3.1. Let $s \in (0,1)$. The map I_{a+}^s can be continuously extended to a map from $\mathcal{M}(I)$ into $L^1(I)$, by setting

$$I_{a+}^{s}[\mu](x) := \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_{a}^{x} \frac{d\mu(t)}{(x-t)^{1-s}}$$

for $\mu \in \mathcal{M}(I)$. Then, I_{a+}^s satisfies the following bound:

$$\left\| I_{a+}^{s}[\mu] \right\|_{L^{1}(I)} \leq \frac{(b-a)^{s}}{\Gamma(1+s)} |\mu|(I),$$
(3.1)

for all $\mu \in \mathcal{M}(I)$.

Proof. Since the function $(x - t)^{s-1}$ is continuous in $t \in (a, x)$, for any fixed $x \in (a, b)$, the integral of this function against any nonnegative measure $\mu \in \mathcal{M}(I)$ is well defined, and we set

$$I_{a+}^{s}[\mu](x) := \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_{a}^{x} \frac{d\mu(t)}{(x-t)^{1-s}}$$

Then, a simple computation similar to the one in Remark 2.12 shows that

$$\begin{split} \left\| I_{a+}^{s}[\mu] \right\|_{L^{1}(I)} &= \int_{a}^{b} \left| I_{a+}^{s}[\mu](x) \right| dx = \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_{a}^{b} \left| \int_{a}^{x} \frac{d\mu(t)}{(x-t)^{1-s}} \right| dx = \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_{a}^{b} \int_{a}^{x} \frac{d\mu(t)}{(x-t)^{1-s}} dx \\ &= \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_{a}^{b} d\mu(t) \int_{t}^{b} \frac{dx}{(x-t)^{1-s}} = \frac{1}{s\Gamma(s)} \int_{a}^{b} (b-t)^{s} d\mu(t) \\ &\leq \frac{(b-a)^{s}}{\Gamma(1+s)} \int_{a}^{b} d\mu(t) = \frac{(b-a)^{s}}{\Gamma(1+s)} \mu(I). \end{split}$$

In the general case of $\mu \in \mathcal{M}(I)$, we consider the Jordan decomposition $\mu = \mu^+ - \mu^-$ and we set

$$I_{a+}^{s}[\mu](x) := I_{a+}^{s}[\mu^{+}](x) - I_{a+}^{s}[\mu^{-}](x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_{a}^{x} \frac{d\mu(t)}{(x-t)^{1-s}},$$

by the linearity of the integral. Therefore, arguing as above, for any $\mu \in \mathcal{M}(I)$ we get

$$\left\|I_{a+}^{s}[\mu]\right\|_{L^{1}(I)} \leq \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_{a}^{b} \int_{a}^{x} \frac{d|\mu|(t)}{(x-t)^{1-s}} \, dx \leq \frac{(b-a)^{s}}{\Gamma\left(1+s\right)} |\mu|(I),$$

which ends the proof.

It is not difficult to see that Lemma 2.21 can be extended to couples of measures and essentially bounded functions.

Lemma 3.2. Let $\mu \in \mathcal{M}(I)$, $\phi \in L^{\infty}(I)$ and $s \in (0, 1)$. Then we have

$$\int_{a}^{b} I_{a+}^{s}[\mu](x) \phi(x) \, dx = \int_{a}^{b} I_{b-}^{s}[\phi](x) \, d\mu(x). \tag{3.2}$$

Proof. Notice that, by Proposition 2.15, $I_{b-}^{s}[\phi] \in C^{0,s}(\overline{I})$, so that it is continuous and bounded, in particular. This implies that the integral on the right hand side of (3.2) is well defined. In addition, notice that

$$\int_{a}^{b} \int_{a}^{x} \frac{|\phi(x)|}{(x-t)^{1-s}} \, d|\mu|(t) \, dx \le \|\phi\|_{L^{\infty}(I)} \int_{a}^{b} \int_{t}^{b} (x-t)^{s-1} \, dx \, d|\mu|(t) \le \|\phi\|_{L^{\infty}(I)} \frac{(b-a)^{s}}{s} |\mu|(I) < \infty.$$

Therefore, we may apply Fubini's theorem, and we obtain

$$\int_{a}^{b} I_{a+}^{s}[\mu](x) \phi(x) \, dx = \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_{a}^{b} \int_{a}^{x} \phi(x) \, \frac{d\mu(t)}{(x-t)^{1-s}} \, dx = \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_{a}^{b} \int_{t}^{b} \frac{\phi(x)}{(x-t)^{1-s}} \, dx \, d\mu(t)$$
$$= \int_{a}^{b} I_{b-}^{s}[\phi](t) \, d\mu(t).$$

Another interesting consequence of Proposition 3.1 is that we can generalize Lemma 2.13, by proving the continuity of I_{a+}^s from $\mathcal{M}(I)$ to $L^{\frac{1}{1-s},\infty}(I)$.

Lemma 3.3. Let $s \in (0,1)$. Then I_{a+}^s maps continuously $\mathcal{M}(I)$ in $L^{\frac{1}{1-s},\infty}(I)$; that is, there exists $C_s > 0$ such that

$$\mathscr{L}^{1}\left(\left\{x \in I : |I_{a+}^{s}[\mu](x)| > t\right\}\right) \leq C_{s}\left(\frac{|\mu|(I)}{t}\right)^{\frac{1}{1-s}} \text{ for all } \mu \in \mathcal{M}(I).$$

Proof. Given $\mu \in \mathcal{M}(I)$, we denote by $\tilde{\mu}$ its zero extension to the whole \mathbb{R} ; that is, the measure defined by

 $\tilde{\mu}(B) = \mu(B \cap I)$ for all Borel sets $B \subset \mathbb{R}$.

As in the proof of Lemma 2.13, we set $H(x) := \chi_{(0,+\infty)}(x)$ and $K(x) := \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)|x|^{1-s}}$. It is then obvious that

$$|\mu|(I) = |\tilde{\mu}|(\mathbb{R}).$$

It is also clear that, for \mathscr{L}^1 -a.e. $x \in I$,

$$I_{a+}^{s}[\mu](x) = I_{a+}^{s}[\tilde{\mu}](x) = (\tilde{\mu} * (KH))(x).$$
(3.3)

Let now $\rho \in C_c^{\infty}((-1,1))$ be a standard mollifier. Thanks to [4, Theorem 2.2], we have

$$\|\rho_{\varepsilon} * \tilde{\mu}\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R})} \le |\tilde{\mu}|(\mathbb{R}) = |\mu|(I), \qquad (3.4)$$

while, by (2.10) and the standard associativity properties of convolution, for all $x \in I$ we get

$$I_{a+}^{s}[\rho_{\varepsilon} * \tilde{\mu}](x) = ((H_{a}(\rho_{\varepsilon} * \tilde{\mu})) * (KH))(x)$$

$$= (\rho_{\varepsilon} * \tilde{\mu} * (KH))(x) + (((H_{a} - 1)(\rho_{\varepsilon} * \tilde{\mu})) * (KH))(x)$$

$$= (\rho_{\varepsilon} * I_{a+}^{s}[\tilde{\mu}])(x) - ((\chi_{(a-\varepsilon,a)}(\rho_{\varepsilon} * \tilde{\mu})) * (KH))(x), \qquad (3.5)$$

since $(\rho_{\varepsilon} * \tilde{\mu})(x) = 0$ for all $x < a - \varepsilon$, and $(1 - \chi_{(a,+\infty)})\chi_{(a-\varepsilon,+\infty)} = \chi_{(a-\varepsilon,a)}$. By (2.9) and (3.4), there exists $C_s > 0$ such that, for all $\varepsilon, t > 0$, we get

$$\mathscr{L}^1\left(\left\{x \in I : |I_{a+}^s[\rho_{\varepsilon} * \tilde{\mu}](x)| > t\right\}\right) \le C_s\left(\frac{\|\rho_{\varepsilon} * \tilde{\mu}\|_{L^1(I)}}{t}\right)^{\frac{1}{1-s}} \le C_s\left(\frac{|\mu|(I)}{t}\right)^{\frac{1}{1-s}}$$

Finally, we recall that there exists a suitable subsequence $\varepsilon_k \to 0$ such that

$$(\rho_{\varepsilon_k} * I^s_{a+}[\tilde{\mu}])(x) \to I^s_{a+}[\tilde{\mu}](x) = I^s_{a+}[\mu](x) \text{ for } \mathscr{L}^1\text{-a.e. } x \in I,$$

since $I_{a+}^s[\mu] \in L^1(I)$, by Proposition 3.1, and by (3.3). As for the term $(\chi_{(a-\varepsilon,a)}(\rho_{\varepsilon} * \tilde{\mu})) * (KH)$, we notice that it converges to zero in $L^1(I)$, since

$$\begin{split} \|(\chi_{(a-\varepsilon,a)}(\rho_{\varepsilon}*\tilde{\mu}))*(KH)\|_{L^{1}(I)} &\leq \int_{a}^{b} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \chi_{(a-\varepsilon,a)}(y)(\rho_{\varepsilon}*|\tilde{\mu}|)(y) \frac{\chi_{(-\infty,x)}(y)}{\Gamma(s)|x-y|^{1-s}} \, dy dx \\ &= \int_{a-\varepsilon}^{a} \int_{a}^{b} (\rho_{\varepsilon}*|\tilde{\mu}|)(y) \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)(x-y)^{1-s}} \, dx dy \\ &= \frac{1}{\Gamma(s+1)} \int_{a-\varepsilon}^{a} (\rho_{\varepsilon}*|\tilde{\mu}|)(y) \left((b-y)^{s}-(a-y)^{s}\right) \, dy \\ &\leq \frac{(b-a+\varepsilon)^{s}}{\Gamma(s+1)} \int_{a-\varepsilon}^{a} \int_{y-\varepsilon}^{y+\varepsilon} \rho_{\varepsilon}(z-y) \, d|\tilde{\mu}|(z) \, dy \\ &= \frac{(b-a+\varepsilon)^{s}}{\Gamma(s+1)} \int_{a-2\varepsilon}^{a+\varepsilon} \int_{z-\varepsilon}^{z+\varepsilon} \rho_{\varepsilon}(z-y) \, dy \, d|\tilde{\mu}|(z) \\ &= \frac{(b-a+\varepsilon)^{s}}{\Gamma(s+1)} |\tilde{\mu}|((a-2\varepsilon,a+\varepsilon)) \\ &= \frac{(b-a+\varepsilon)^{s}}{\Gamma(s+1)} |\mu|((a,a+\varepsilon)) \to 0 \end{split}$$

as $\varepsilon \to 0$. Hence, up to passing to another subsequence, we obtain that

$$I_{a+}^{s}[\rho_{\varepsilon_{k}} * \tilde{\mu}](x) = (\rho_{\varepsilon_{k}} * I_{a+}^{s}[\tilde{\mu}])(x) - ((\chi_{(a-\varepsilon_{k},a)}(\rho_{\varepsilon_{k}} * \tilde{\mu})) * (KH))(x)$$

 $\rightarrow I_{a+}^{s}[\mu](x) \text{ for } \mathscr{L}^{1}\text{-a.e. } x \in I.$

Hence, exploiting the lower semicontinuity of the distribution function (see [22, Exercise 1.1.1]) and (3.5), we get

$$\mathcal{L}^{1}\left(\left\{x \in I : |I_{a+}^{s}[\mu](x)| > t\right\}\right) \leq \liminf_{k \to \infty} \mathcal{L}^{1}\left(\left\{x \in I : |I_{a+}^{s}[\rho_{\varepsilon_{k}} * \tilde{\mu}](x)| > t\right\}\right)$$
$$\leq C_{s}\left(\frac{|\mu|(I)}{t}\right)^{\frac{1}{1-s}},$$

and this ends the proof.

We notice that, as a byproduct of the proof of [7, Theorem 3.3], formula (2.20) has been extended to the case of Sobolev functions. Now, we generalize this relation to the case of BV functions, and, by doing so, we also immediately prove the inclusion of BV(I)in $W^{s,1}_{RL,a+}(I)$.

Theorem 3.4. Let $u \in BV(I)$. Then, for all $s \in (0,1)$, we have $u \in W^{s,1}_{RL,a+}(I)$ with

$$D_{a+}^{s}[u](x) = I_{a+}^{1-s}[Du](x) + \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-s)} \frac{u(a+)}{(x-a)^{s}}.$$
(3.6)

In particular, we have $BV(I) \hookrightarrow W^{s,1}_{RL,a+}(I)$ for all $s \in (0,1)$, with

$$\|u\|_{W^{s,1}_{RL,a+}(I)} \le \max\left\{1 + \frac{(b-a)^{-s}}{\Gamma(2-s)}, \frac{2(b-a)^{1-s}}{\Gamma(2-s)}\right\} \|u\|_{BV(I)}.$$
(3.7)

In addition,

$$D_{a+}^{s}[u]\mathscr{L}^{1} \to Du + u(a+)\delta_{a} \quad as \quad s \to 1^{-} \quad in \quad \mathcal{M}(\overline{I}).$$
 (3.8)

Proof. By Remark 2.12, we obtain immediately that $I_{a+}^{1-s}[u] \in L^1(I)$, since $u \in L^1(I)$. Let us now assume that $u \in AC(\overline{I})$. For all $x \in (a, b)$, formula (2.20) yields

$$\frac{d}{dx}I_{a+}^{1-s}[u](x) = I_{a+}^{1-s}[u'](x) + \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-s)}\frac{u(a)}{(x-a)^s}.$$

Now, let $u \in BV(I)$ and \tilde{u} be its zero extension to \mathbb{R} given by (2.2). Let $\rho \in C_c^{\infty}((-1,1))$ be a standard mollifier. It is well known that $\rho_{\varepsilon} * \tilde{u} \in C^{\infty}(I) \cap BV(I)$, so that $\rho_{\varepsilon} * \tilde{u} \in W^{1,1}(I) \hookrightarrow AC(\overline{I})$, in particular. Then, for any $\phi \in C_c^1(I)$ we have

$$\int_{a}^{b} I_{a+}^{1-s}[\rho_{\varepsilon} * \tilde{u}] \phi' \, dx = -\int_{a}^{b} \left(I_{a+}^{1-s}[\rho_{\varepsilon} * D\tilde{u}] + \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-s)} \frac{(\rho_{\varepsilon} * \tilde{u})(a)}{(x-a)^{s}} \right) \phi \, dx.$$

By (2.11), we get

$$\int_{a}^{b} I_{a+}^{1-s}[\rho_{\varepsilon} * D\tilde{u}] \phi \, dx = \int_{a}^{b} I_{b-}^{1-s}[\phi] \left(\rho_{\varepsilon} * D\tilde{u}\right) dx$$

Then, since Proposition 2.15 applies also to I_{b-}^{1-s} (thanks to Remark 2.20), we have $I_{b-}^{1-s}[\phi] \in C^0(\overline{I})$. Thanks to (2.5), we obtain

$$(\rho_{\varepsilon} * D\tilde{u})(x) = (\rho_{\varepsilon} * (Du \sqcup I))(x) + u(a+)\rho_{\varepsilon}(x-a) - u(b-)\rho_{\varepsilon}(b-x).$$

Since $I_{b-}^{1-s}[\phi] \in C^0(\overline{I})$, we have

$$\int_{a}^{b} I_{b-}^{1-s}[\phi](x)u(a+)\rho_{\varepsilon}(x-a)\,dx \to \frac{u(a+)}{2}I_{b-}^{1-s}[\phi](a) = \frac{u(a+)}{2\Gamma(1-s)}\int_{a}^{b} \frac{\phi(x)}{(x-a)^{s}}dx$$

and

$$\int_{a}^{b} I_{b-}^{1-s}[\phi](x)u(b-)\rho_{\varepsilon}(b-x)\,dx \to \frac{u(b-)}{2}I_{b-}^{1-s}[\phi](b) = 0,$$

since $\int_{-1}^{1} \rho dx = 1$ and ρ is even, and

$$|I_{b-}^{1-s}[\phi](x)| \le \frac{\|\phi\|_{L^{\infty}(I)}}{\Gamma(1-s)} \int_{x}^{b} \frac{1}{(t-x)^{s}} dt = \frac{\|\phi\|_{L^{\infty}(I)}}{\Gamma(2-s)} (b-x)^{1-s} \to 0 \text{ as } x \to b-s$$

Then, Fubini's theorem implies that

$$\int_{a}^{b} I_{b-}^{1-s}[\phi](x)(\rho_{\varepsilon} * (Du \sqcup I))(x) dx = \int_{a}^{b} \int_{a}^{b} I_{b-}^{1-s}[\phi](x)\rho_{\varepsilon}(x-y) dDu(y) dx$$
$$= \int_{a}^{b} \int_{a}^{b} I_{b-}^{1-s}[\phi](x)\rho_{\varepsilon}(y-x) dx dDu(y)$$
$$\to \int_{a}^{b} I_{b-}^{1-s}[\phi](y) dDu(y),$$

where in the last step we employed well known convergence properties of mollifications of continuous functions. All in all, we get

$$\begin{split} \int_{a}^{b} I_{b-}^{1-s}[\phi] \left(\rho_{\varepsilon} * D\tilde{u}\right) dx &= \int_{a}^{b} I_{b-}^{1-s}[\phi] \left(\rho_{\varepsilon} * (Du \sqcup I)\right) dx + \\ &+ \int_{a}^{b} I_{b-}^{1-s}[\phi](x) \left(u(a+)\rho_{\varepsilon}(x-a) - u(b-)\rho_{\varepsilon}(b-x)\right) dx \\ &\to \int_{a}^{b} I_{b-}^{1-s}[\phi] dDu + \frac{u(a+)}{2} I_{b-}^{1-s}[\phi](a) \\ &= \int_{a}^{b} \phi(x) \left(I_{a+}^{1-s}[Du](x) + \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-s)} \frac{u(a+)}{2(x-a)^{s}}\right) dx. \end{split}$$

where the last equality follows from (3.2) and the definition of I_{b-}^{1-s} . On the other hand, we also obtain

$$\int_{a}^{b} I_{a+}^{1-s}[\rho_{\varepsilon} * \tilde{u}] \phi' dx = \int_{a}^{b} (\rho_{\varepsilon} * \tilde{u}) I_{b-}^{1-s}[\phi'] dx$$
$$\rightarrow \int_{a}^{b} u I_{b-}^{1-s}[\phi'] dx = \int_{a}^{b} I_{a+}^{1-s}[u] \phi' dx,$$

by (2.11) and Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem, since $I_{b-}^{1-s}[\phi'] \in L^1(I)$ and

$$\|\rho_{\varepsilon} * \tilde{u}\|_{L^{\infty}(I)} \le \|u\|_{L^{\infty}(I)} \le C_{a,b} \|u\|_{BV(I)},$$

by (2.1). Now, since $(\rho_{\varepsilon} * \tilde{u})(a) \to \frac{u(a+)}{2}$ by (2.4), we get

$$\begin{split} \int_{a}^{b} I_{a+}^{1-s}[u](x) \,\phi'(x) \, dx &= \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{a}^{b} I_{a+}^{1-s}[\rho_{\varepsilon} * \tilde{u}](x) \,\phi'(x) \, dx \\ &= -\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{a}^{b} I_{b-}^{1-s}[\phi](x) \,(\rho_{\varepsilon} * D\tilde{u})(x) + \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-s)} \frac{(\rho_{\varepsilon} * \tilde{u})(a)}{(x-a)^{s}} \,\phi(x) \, dx \\ &= -\int_{a}^{b} \phi(x) \left(I_{a+}^{1-s}[Du](x) + \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-s)} \frac{u(a+)}{2(x-a)^{s}} \right) \, dx + \\ &- \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-s)} \int_{a}^{b} \frac{u(a+)}{2(x-a)^{s}} \phi(x) \, dx \\ &= -\int_{a}^{b} \left(I_{a+}^{1-s}[Du](x) + \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-s)} \frac{u(a+)}{(x-a)^{s}} \right) \phi(x) \, dx, \end{split}$$

which yields (3.6). Thus, $D_{a+}^s u \in L^1(I)$, with

$$\left\| D_{a+}^{s} u \right\|_{L^{1}(I)} \leq \frac{(b-a)^{1-s}}{\Gamma(2-s)} (|Du|(I) + |u(a+)|)$$

by (3.1). Then, thanks to (2.1) and (2.3), we get

$$\begin{aligned} \|u\|_{W^{s,1}_{RL,a+}(I)} &= \|u\|_{L^{1}(I)} + \left\|D^{s}_{a+}u\right\|_{L^{1}(I)} \leq \|u\|_{L^{1}(I)} + \frac{(b-a)^{1-s}}{\Gamma(2-s)}\left(|Du|(I) + |u(a+)|\right) \\ &\leq \|u\|_{L^{1}(I)} + \frac{(b-a)^{1-s}}{\Gamma(2-s)}\left(|Du|(I) + \frac{1}{b-a}\|u\|_{L^{1}(I)} + |Du|(I)\right) \\ &= \left(1 + \frac{(b-a)^{-s}}{\Gamma(2-s)}\right)\|u\|_{L^{1}(I)} + \frac{2(b-a)^{1-s}}{\Gamma(2-s)}|Du|(I), \end{aligned}$$

which easily implies (3.7) and the continuity of the embedding $BV(I) \hookrightarrow W^{s,1}_{RL,a+}(I)$.

To prove the second part of the claim, we choose $\phi \in C^1(\overline{I})$ and exploit (3.2) and (3.6) in order to obtain

$$\begin{split} \int_{a}^{b} D_{a+}^{s}[u](x)\phi(x)dx &= \int_{a}^{b} I_{a+}^{1-s}[Du](x)\phi(x)dx + \frac{u(a+)}{\Gamma(1-s)} \int_{a}^{b} \frac{\phi(x)}{(x-a)^{s}}dx \\ &= \int_{a}^{b} I_{b-}^{1-s}[\phi](x)dDu(x) + \\ &+ \frac{u(a+)}{\Gamma(2-s)} \left(\phi(b)(b-a)^{1-s} - \int_{a}^{b} \phi'(x)(x-a)^{1-s}dx\right). \end{split}$$

Therefore, by Lemma 2.22 and Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem, we get

$$\lim_{s \to 1^{-}} \int_{a}^{b} D_{a+}^{s}[u](x)\phi(x)dx = \int_{a}^{b} \phi(x)dDu(x) + u(a+)\phi(a).$$

Then, the claim plainly follows by the density of $C^1(\overline{I})$ in $C(\overline{I})$ with respect to the supremum norm.

Lemma 3.5. Let $s \in (0,1)$. If $u \in W^{s,1}(I)$, then $D_{a+}^s[u]$ is well defined, belongs to $L^1(I)$ and $D_{a+}^s[u](x) = {}^M D_{a+}^s[u](x)$ for \mathscr{L}^1 -a.e. $x \in I$.

Proof. If $u \in W^{s,1}(I) \cap AC(\overline{I})$, the computations already done in (2.22) hold true.

Otherwise, if $u \in W^{s,1}(I)$, we exploit the density of $C_c^1(I)$ in $W^{s,1}(I)$ (Remark 2.9), which means that there exists a sequence u_n in $C_c^1(I)$ such that $||u_n - u||_{W^{s,1}(I)} \to 0$ as $n \to +\infty$. Now, we prove that

$$D_{a+}^{s}[u_{n}](x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-s)} \frac{u_{n}(x)}{(x-a)^{s}} + \frac{s}{\Gamma(1-s)} \int_{a}^{x} \frac{u_{n}(x) - u_{n}(t)}{(x-t)^{s+1}} dt$$
(3.9)

converges in $L^1(I)$ and, up to a subsequence, pointwise \mathscr{L}^1 -a.e. in I to $D^s_{a+}[u](x)$.

For the second term in the right hand side of (3.9), we proceed as follows: we set

$$f_n(x) := \int_a^x \frac{u_n(x) - u_n(t) - u(x) + u(t)}{(x - t)^{s+1}} dt$$

The sequence f_n converges to 0 in $L^1(I)$. Indeed

$$\int_{a}^{b} |f_{n}(x)| dx \le [u_{n} - u]_{W^{s,1}(I)} \le ||u_{n} - u||_{W^{s,1}(I)} \to 0 \quad \text{as} \quad n \to +\infty.$$

Therefore, up to a subsequence, f_n converges pointwise \mathscr{L}^1 -a.e. to 0 in I, so that

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \int_a^x \frac{u_n(x) - u_n(t)}{(x-t)^{s+1}} \, dt = \int_a^x \frac{u(x) - u(t)}{(x-t)^{s+1}} \, dt$$

for \mathscr{L}^1 -a.e. $x \in I$. Conversely, for the first term in the right hand side of (3.9), up to a subsequence, we have convergence \mathscr{L}^1 -a.e. in I thanks to the convergence of u_n to u in $W^{s,1}(I)$ and hence in $L^1(I)$, which implies pointwise convergence \mathscr{L}^1 -a.e., up to a subsequence.

For the L^1 convergence, we argue as follows: employing the fractional Hardy inequality, Lemma 2.10, with p = 1, we get

$$\int_{a}^{b} \frac{|u_{n}(x) - u(x)|}{(x-a)^{s}} dx \le \int_{a}^{b} \frac{|u_{n}(x) - u(x)|}{|\delta_{I}(x)|^{s}} dx \le C \, \|u_{n} - u\|_{W^{s,1}(I)} \to 0 \quad \text{as} \quad n \to +\infty.$$

To conclude, we notice that, for any $\phi \in C_c^1(I)$ it holds that

$$\int_{a}^{b} {}^{M}D_{a+}^{s}[u_{n}](x)\phi(x)dx = \int_{a}^{b} {}^{D}D_{a+}^{s}[u_{n}](x)\phi(x)dx$$
$$= -\int_{a}^{b} {}^{1-s}[u_{n}](x)\phi'(x)dx \to -\int_{a}^{b} {}^{1-s}[u](x)\phi'(x)dx,$$

since $u_n \to u$ in $L^1(I)$ and I_{a+}^{1-s} is continuous from $L^1(I)$ to $L^1(I)$. On the other hand, we have just proved that ${}^M D_{a+}^s[u_n] \to {}^M D_{a+}^s[u]$ in $L^1(I)$, and so we conclude

$$\int_{a}^{b} {}^{M}D^{s}_{a+}[u](x)\phi(x)dx = -\int_{a}^{b} I^{1-s}_{a+}[u](x)\phi'(x)dx,$$

$$\in W^{s,1}_{BL_{a+}}(I) \text{ with } {}^{M}D^{s}_{a+}[u](x) = D^{s}_{a+}[u](x) \text{ for a.e. } x \in I.$$

and this implies $u \in W^{s,1}_{RL,a+}(I)$ with ${}^{M}D^{s}_{a+}[u](x) = D^{s}_{a+}[u](x)$ for a.e. $x \in I$.

Remark 3.6. We notice that Hölder's inequality cannot be exploited in order to estimate the term

$$\int_{a}^{b} \frac{|u_n(x) - u(x)|}{(x-a)^s} dx$$

in the proof of Lemma 3.5, so that we need to employ the fractional Hardy inequality of Lemma 2.10. Indeed, since $u_n - u \in W^{s,1}(I)$, the fractional Sobolev embedding Theorem (see *e.g.* [16, Theorem 6.7.]) implies that $u_n - u \in L^q(I)$ for any $q \in \left[1, \frac{1}{1-s}\right]$.

Therefore, we get

$$\int_{a}^{b} \frac{|u_{n}(x) - u(x)|}{(x-a)^{s}} dx \le \left(\int_{a}^{b} |u_{n} - u|^{q} dx\right)^{1/q} \left(\int_{a}^{b} \frac{dx}{(x-a)^{sq'}}\right)^{1/q'}$$

Now, $q \leq \frac{1}{1-s}$ implies $sq' \geq 1$, and so

$$\int_{a}^{b} \frac{dx}{(x-a)^{sq'}} = +\infty,$$

and thus this estimate is not useful.

Proposition 3.7. For all $s \in (0,1)$ the embedding $W^{s,1}(I) \hookrightarrow W^{s,1}_{RL,a+}(I)$ is continuous.

Proof. Since $u \in L^1(I)$, in particular, we have $I_{a+}^{1-s}[u] \in L^1(I)$ by Remark 2.12.

Thanks to Lemma 3.5, we have that the left Riemann-Liouville fractional derivative of u coincides with the Marchaud one, and so

$$D_{a+}^{s}[u](x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-s)} \frac{u(x)}{(x-a)^{s}} + \frac{s}{\Gamma(1-s)} \int_{a}^{x} \frac{u(x) - u(t)}{(x-t)^{s+1}} dt \text{ for } \mathscr{L}^{1}\text{-a.e } x \in I.$$

For the second term on the right hand side, it holds that

$$\int_{a}^{b} \left| \int_{a}^{x} \frac{u(x) - u(t)}{(x - t)^{s+1}} dt \right| dx \le [u]_{W^{s,1}(I)}.$$
(3.10)

While for the first term, using Lemma 2.10 with p = 1, we have

$$\int_{a}^{b} \frac{|u(x)|}{(x-a)^{s}} dx \le \int_{a}^{b} \frac{|u(x)|}{|\delta_{I}(x)|^{s}} dx \le C \, \|u\|_{W^{s,1}(I)}$$
(3.11)

for some C = C(s, a, b) > 0.

All in all, using (3.1), (3.10) and (3.11), we obtain that there exists a positive constant C = C(s, a, b) such that

$$\|u\|_{W^{s,1}_{RL,a+}(I)} \le C \, \|u\|_{W^{s,1}(I)} \, .$$

We notice that, thanks to the continuous embedding $BV(I) \hookrightarrow W^{s,1}(I)$ (see for instance [27, Proposition 1.2.1]), Proposition 3.7 actually implies the continuous embedding $BV(I) \hookrightarrow W^{s,1}_{RL,a+}(I)$, also given by Theorem 3.4. However, the proofs of these two results exploit different techniques, both of them interesting in their own way.

Remark 3.8. We notice that Proposition 3.7 does not hold for unbounded intervals. Indeed, the function $u(x) := \frac{1}{x^2}$ belongs to $W^{1,1}((1, +\infty))$, therefore $u \in W^{1/2,1}((1, +\infty))$, but we have

$$I_{1+}^{1/2}[u](x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi}} \left(\frac{\log(x) + 2\log\left(1 + \sqrt{\frac{x-1}{x}}\right)}{2x^{3/2}} + \frac{\sqrt{x-1}}{x} \right) \notin L^1((1, +\infty)).$$

This example shows also that the continuity of the fractional integral in L^p for $1 \le p \le 2$ fails for unbounded intervals.

Actually, we can prove that the inclusion of Proposition 3.7 is strict.

Proposition 3.9. For all $s \in (0,1)$ the space $W^{s,1}_{RL,a+}(I)$ strictly contains $W^{s,1}(I)$, and so it strictly contains BV(I).

Proof. We claim that the function

$$u(x) := \frac{(x-a)^{s-1}}{\Gamma(s)}$$

belongs to $W^{s,1}_{RL,a+}(I) \setminus W^{s,1}(I)$. By Example 2.27, we know that $u \in L^1(I)$ and that $I^{1-s}_{a+}[u](x) = 1$ for all $x \in I$, so that $I^{1-s}_{a+}[u] \in W^{1,1}(I)$, which implies that $u \in W^{s,1}_{RL,a+}(I)$, by definition. Then, we need to prove that the Gagliardo-Slobodeckij seminorm of u is infinite. We see that

$$\begin{split} \Gamma(s)[u]_{W^{s,1}(I)} &:= \int_{a}^{b} \int_{a}^{b} \frac{|(x-a)^{s-1} - (y-a)^{s-1}|}{|x-y|^{s+1}} \, dx \, dy = \begin{bmatrix} x = a + (b-a)x \\ y = a + (b-a)y \end{bmatrix} \\ &= \int_{0}^{1} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{|x^{s-1} - y^{s-1}|}{|x-y|^{s+1}} \, dx \, dy = [x = yz] = \int_{0}^{1} \int_{0}^{\frac{1}{y}} \frac{|z^{s-1} - 1|y^{s-1}}{|z-1|^{s+1}y^{s+1}} y \, dz \, dy \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\min\left\{1, \frac{1}{z}\right\}} \frac{|z^{s-1} - 1|}{|z-1|^{s+1}y} \, dy \, dz = +\infty \end{split}$$

since $1/y \notin L^1((0, \delta))$, for any $\delta > 0$. Finally, we recall that $W^{s,1}(I)$ contains BV(I) and this ends the proof.

Remark 3.10. In particular, we see that, for all $s \in (0, 1)$, all the inclusions

$$BV(I) \hookrightarrow W^{s,1}(I) \hookrightarrow W^{s,1}_{RL,a+}(I)$$

are strict: indeed, if we consider

$$v_{\sigma}(x) := (x-a)^{\sigma-1}$$

for some $\sigma \in (s, 1)$, then, arguing as in the proof of Proposition 3.9, it is easy to see that $v_{\sigma} \in W^{s,1}(I) \setminus BV(I)$.

Now, we recall the fact that $W^{s,1}(I)$ is a real interpolation space; namely,

$$W^{s,1}(I) = (L^1(I), W^{1,1}(I))_{s,1}$$

More generally, we have that, for $s \in (0, 1), 1 \le p \le \infty, 1 \le q \le \infty$, it holds that

$$(L^{p}(I), W^{1,p}(I))_{s,q} = B^{s}_{p,q}(I),$$

where $B_{p,q}^s(I)$ denotes the Besov space; in particular, if p = q we have $B_{p,p}^s(I) = W^{s,p}(I)$. In light of this observation, we can extend Proposition 3.7 in the following way.

Corollary 3.11. For 0 < s < r < 1, $1 \le p \le \infty$ and $1 \le q \le \infty$, we have that the embedding $B_{p,q}^r(I) \hookrightarrow W_{RL,a+}^{s,1}(I)$ is continuous.

Proof. Using [28, Proposition 1.4], we have that, for r, s, p, q as given in our claim, the Besov space $B_{p,q}^r(I)$ is continuously embedded in $B_{1,1}^s(I) = W^{s,1}(I)$, which is continuously embedded in $W_{RL,a+}^{s,1}(I)$ thanks to Proposition 3.7, and this proves the claim.

Remark 3.12. Unfortunately, Corollary 3.11 does not cover the case r = s for any choice of p and q. Therefore, in the particular case p = q we are unable to conclude that Proposition 3.7 extends to $W^{s,p}(I)$ for any p > 1. Indeed, in [29] the authors prove that for $1 \leq q and <math>s > 0$, $s \notin \mathbb{N}$, we have $W^{s,p}(I) \not\subseteq W^{s,q}(I)$.

Now, we extend Proposition 3.7 to the case p > 1.

Proposition 3.13. Let $p \in [1, \infty)$ and $s \in (0, \frac{1}{p})$. Then it holds that

$$W^{r,p}(I) \hookrightarrow W^{s,p}_{RL,a+}(I), \tag{3.12}$$

for all $r \in [s + \frac{1}{p'}, 1)$, where p' denotes the Hölder conjugate of p.

Proof. First of all, setting $\sigma := s + \frac{1}{p'}$, we notice that, since $s < \frac{1}{p}$, we have $s < \sigma < 1$. Moreover, since $W^{r,p}(I) \hookrightarrow W^{\sigma,p}(I)$ for any $r \in (\sigma, 1)$ (see *e.g.* [16, Proposition 2.1.]), we reduce ourselves to prove that $W^{\sigma,p}(I) \hookrightarrow W^{s,p}_{RL,a+}(I)$.

Now, the case p = 1 follows immediately from Corollary 3.11 with q = p.

Then, let p > 1 and $u \in W^{\sigma,p}(I)$. By [28, Proposition 1.4] we have $u \in W^{s,1}(I)$, and so, using Proposition 3.7 and Lemma 3.5, it follows that $u \in W^{s,1}_{RL,a+}(I)$ with $D^s_{a+}[u](x) = {}^{M}D^s_{a+}[u](x)$ for \mathscr{L}^1 -a.e. $x \in I$.

To conclude, it is sufficient to estimate the $L^p(I)$ -norm of

$$D_{a+}^{s}[u](x) = {}^{M}D_{a+}^{s}[u](x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-s)}\frac{u(x)}{(x-a)^{s}} + \frac{s}{\Gamma(1-s)}\int_{a}^{x}\frac{u(x)-u(t)}{(x-t)^{s+1}}dt.$$
 (3.13)

Since sp < 1 and $\sigma > s$, using Lemma 2.10 and [16, Proposition 2.1], for the first term in the right-hand side of (3.13) it holds that

$$\int_{a}^{b} \frac{|u(x)|^{p}}{(x-a)^{sp}} dx \le C \, \|u\|_{W^{s,p}(I)}^{p} \le C \, \|u\|_{W^{\sigma,p}(I)}^{p}, \qquad (3.14)$$

for some constant C > 0.

As for the second term in the right-hand side of (3.13), we exploit Hölder's inequality to get

$$\int_{a}^{b} \left| \int_{a}^{x} \frac{u(x) - u(t)}{(x-t)^{s+1}} \, dt \right|^{p} \, dx \leq \int_{a}^{b} \int_{a}^{x} \frac{|u(x) - u(t)|^{p}}{(x-t)^{sp+p}} \, dt (x-a)^{p-1} \, dx$$
$$\leq (b-a)^{p-1} \int_{a}^{b} \int_{a}^{b} \frac{|u(x) - u(t)|^{p}}{|x-t|^{sp+p}} \, dt \, dx.$$

Therefore, since $sp + p = \sigma p + 1$, we have

$$\int_{a}^{b} \left| \int_{a}^{x} \frac{u(x) - u(t)}{(x-t)^{s+1}} dt \right|^{p} dx \le (b-a)^{p-1} [u]_{W^{\sigma,p}(I)}^{p}.$$
(3.15)

By combining (3.14) and (3.15), we immediately obtain

$$\left\| D_{a+}^{s}[u] \right\|_{L^{p}(I)} \leq \max\{(b-a)^{\frac{1}{p'}}, C\} \left\| u \right\|_{W^{\sigma,p}(I)},$$

and this concludes the proof.

30

Remark 3.14. It is interesting to notice that some inequalities of Poincaré type hold true in the fractional context, for which we refer for instance to [5, Chapter 17]. However, in general it is not possible to retrieve the classical Poincaré inequality by estimating the L^p norm of the difference between u and its average with the L^p norm of its Riemann-Liouville derivative. Indeed, let us consider the function $u(x) := (x - a)^{s-1}$ for some $s \in (0, 1)$. By Example 2.27, we have $u \in L^p(I)$ for all $1 \le p < \frac{1}{1-s}$, and

$$I_{a+}^{1-s}[u](x) = \Gamma(s)$$
 and $D_{a+}^{s}[u](x) = 0$ for all $x \in I$.

Therefore, $u \in W^{s,p}_{RL,a+}(I)$ for all $p \in \left[1, \frac{1}{1-s}\right)$. Thus, being u not constant, we cannot hope for any sort of Poincaré inequality of the type

$$\int_{a}^{b} |u - u_{I}|^{p} dx \le C \int_{a}^{b} |D_{a+}^{s}[u]|^{p} dx$$

where

$$u_I := \frac{1}{b-a} \int_a^b u(x) \, dx = \frac{1}{s} (b-a)^{s-1}$$

4. The space $BV^s_{RL,a+}(I)$

In analogy with the previous definition of left Riemann-Liouville fractional Sobolev spaces, we introduce now the natural extension to the BV framework.

Definition 4.1. Let $s \in (0,1)$. We define the space of functions with left Riemann-Liouville fractional bounded variation as

$$BV_{RL,a+}^{s}(I) := \left\{ u \in L^{1}(I) : I_{a+}^{1-s}[u] \in BV(I) \right\}.$$

From the definition, it follows immediately that u belongs to $BV^s_{RL,a+}(I)$ if and only if there exists a measure $\mu^s \in \mathcal{M}(I)$ satisfying

$$\int_{a}^{b} I_{a+}^{1-s}[u](x) \,\phi'(x) \, dx = -\int_{a}^{b} \phi(x) \, d\mu^{s}(x)$$

for any $\phi \in C_c^1(I)$, and we call $\mathcal{D}_{a+}^s[u] = DI_{a+}^{1-s}[u] := \mu^s$ the left Riemann-Liouville distributional *s*-fractional derivative. In order to avoid any ambiguity, we denote with $D_{a+}^s[u]$ the density of the absolutely continuous part of $\mathcal{D}_{a+}^s[u]$ with respect to the Lebesgue measure \mathscr{L}^1 .

It is not difficult to see that the space $BV^s_{RL,a+}(I)$, endowed with the norm

$$\|u\|_{BV_{RL,a+}^{s}(I)} := \|u\|_{L^{1}(I)} + \left\|I_{a+}^{1-s}[u]\right\|_{BV(I)},$$

is a Banach space.

Arguing analogously as in Lemma 2.35, we derive a duality relation between the left Riemann-Liouville weak s-fractional derivative and the right Caputo s-fractional derivative.

Corollary 4.2. A function $u \in L^1(I)$ belongs to $BV^s_{RL,a+}(I)$ if and only if there exists $\mu^s \in \mathcal{M}(I)$ such that

$$\int_{a}^{b} u(x) {}^{C} D_{b-}^{s}[\phi](x) \, dx = \int_{a}^{b} \phi(x) \, d\mu^{s}(x)$$

for every $\phi \in C_c^1(I)$. In that case, we have $\mathcal{D}_{a+}^s[u] = \mu^s$.

It is natural to ask what we can say about the decomposition of the measure $\mathcal{D}_{a+}^{s}[u]$ for a function $u \in BV_{RL,a+}^{s}(I)$. We start with the following result.

Proposition 4.3. Let $u \in L^1(I)$ and $s \in (0,1)$. Then $u \in W^{s,1}_{RL,a+}(I)$ if and only if $u \in BV^s_{RL,a+}(I)$ and $\mathcal{D}^s_{a+}[u] \ll \mathscr{L}^1$. In particular, the embedding $W^{s,1}_{RL,a+}(I) \hookrightarrow BV^s_{RL,a+}(I)$ is continuous, and $\mathcal{D}^s_{a+}[u] = D^s_{a+}[u]\mathscr{L}^1$ for any $u \in W^{s,1}_{RL,a+}(I)$. In addition, if $u \in BV(I)$, then

$$\mathcal{D}_{a+}^{s}[u] = \left(I_{a+}^{1-s}[Du] + \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-s)}\frac{u(a+)}{(\cdot-a)^{s}}\right)\mathscr{L}^{1}$$

Proof. If $u \in W^{s,1}_{RL,a+}(I)$, Lemma 2.35 implies that

$$\int_{a}^{b} u(x) {}^{C} D_{b-}^{s}[\phi](x) \, dx = \int_{a}^{b} \phi(x) D_{a+}^{s}[u](x) \, dx$$

for every $\phi \in C_c^1(I)$. Thus, Corollary 4.2 implies that $u \in BV_{RL,a+}^s(I)$ with

$$\mathcal{D}^s_{a+}[u] = D^s_{a+}[u]\mathscr{L}^1$$

This immediately implies that the embedding $W^{s,1}_{RL,a+}(I) \hookrightarrow BV^s_{RL,a+}(I)$ is continuous. On the other hand, if $u \in BV^s_{RL,a+}(I)$ and $\mathcal{D}^s_{a+}[u] \ll \mathscr{L}^1$, then $I^{1-s}_{a+}[u]$ belongs to $W^{1,1}(I)$, and so $u \in W^{s,1}_{RL,a+}(I)$. By Theorem 3.4, if $u \in BV(I)$, then $u \in W^{s,1}_{RL,a+}(I)$, and the representation formula is a trivial consequence of (3.6).

In the spirit of Lemma 2.33, we can obtain a version of the Fundamental Theorem of Calculus for functions in $BV_{RL,a+}^{s}(I)$.

Lemma 4.4. Let $s \in (0,1)$ and $u \in BV^s_{RL,a+}(I)$. Then, for \mathscr{L}^1 -a.e. $x \in I$, we also have

$$u(x) = D_{a+}^{s}[I_{a+}^{s}[u]](x) = I_{a+}^{s}[\mathcal{D}_{a+}^{s}[u]](x) + \frac{I_{a+}^{1-s}[u](a+)}{\Gamma(s)}(x-a)^{s-1}.$$
 (4.1)

In addition, if $u \in BV_{RL,a+}^{s}(I) \cap I_{a+}^{s}(L^{1}(I))$, then $u \in W_{RL,a+}^{s,1}(I) \cap I_{a+}^{s}(L^{1}(I))$, $I_{a+}^{1-s}[u](a+) = 0$ and (2.31) holds.

Proof. The first equality in (4.1) follows immediately from (2.29). The second one can be proved as (2.30). Indeed, if $u \in BV_{RL,a+}^s(I)$, then $I_{a+}^{1-s}[u] \in BV(I)$ with weak derivative

 $\mathcal{D}^s_{a+}[u]$. Therefore, by [4, Theorem 3.28], for \mathscr{L}^1 -a.e. $x \in I$, we get

$$I_{a+}^{1-s}[u](x) = \int_{a}^{x} d\mathcal{D}_{a+}^{s}[u](t) + I_{a+}^{1-s}[u](a+)$$

= $I_{a+}^{1-s}[I_{a+}^{s}[\mathcal{D}_{a+}^{s}[u]]](x) + I_{a+}^{1-s}\left[\frac{I_{a+}^{1-s}[u](a+)}{\Gamma(s)}(\cdot - a)^{s-1}\right](x)$

by (2.23). We notice that $\mathcal{D}_{a+}^{s}[u] \in \mathcal{M}(I)$, and so, by Proposition 3.1, $I_{a+}^{s}[\mathcal{D}_{a+}^{s}[u]] \in L^{1}(I)$. Thus, it is enough to apply D_{a+}^{1-s} to both sides of the equation and use (2.29) to obtain (4.1). Finally, if $u \in BV_{RL,a+}^{s}(I) \cap I_{a+}^{s}(L^{1}(I))$, then, by Lemma 2.32 with p = 1, we have $u \in W_{RL,a+}^{s,1}(I), I_{a+}^{1-s}[u](a+) = 0$, and so it satisfies the hypotheses for (2.31). This ends the proof.

Remark 4.5. As a trivial consequence of Proposition 4.3, we see that, if $u \in W^{s,p}_{RL,a+}(I)$ for some $p \geq 1$, and $s \in (0,1)$, then $u \in BV^s_{RL,a+}(I)$, and $\mathcal{D}^s_{a+}[u] \ll \mathscr{L}^1$, with density given by the left Riemann-Liouville weak s-fractional derivative.

We show that the inclusion of $W^{s,1}_{RL,a+}(I)$ into $BV^s_{RL,a+}(I)$ is strict, by constructing an example of a function u such that the measure $\mathcal{D}^s_{a+}[u]$ is not absolutely continuous with respect \mathscr{L}^1 .

Example 4.6 $(BV^s_{RL,a+}(I) \setminus W^{s,1}_{RL,a+}(I) \neq \emptyset)$. Let $s \in (0,1)$, J = (c,d) with $c, d \in \mathbb{R}$ such that a < c < d < b. We define the following function

$$u(x) := \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } a < x \le c, \\ \frac{(x-c)^{s-1}}{\Gamma(s)} & \text{if } c < x \le d, \\ 0 & \text{if } d < x < b. \end{cases}$$

Now, we compute $I_{a+}^{1-s}[u](x)$. Clearly, when $x \in (a, c)$, $I_{a+}^{1-s}[u](x) = 0$. On the other hand, for $x \in J$ by (2.23) we obtain

$$I_{a+}^{1-s}[u](x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)\Gamma(1-s)} \int_{c}^{x} (t-c)^{s-1} (x-t)^{-s} dt = 1.$$

Therefore, for any $x \in I$, we have

$$I_{a+}^{1-s}[u](x) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } x \in (a,c] \\ 1 & \text{if } x \in (c,d] \\ \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)\Gamma(1-s)} \int_{c}^{d} (t-c)^{s-1} (x-t)^{-s} dt & \text{if } x \in (d,b) \end{cases}$$

In other words, we have

$$I_{a+}^{1-s}[u](x) = \chi_J(x) + f(x)\chi_{(d,b)}(x) \text{ for } \mathscr{L}^1\text{-a.e. } x \in I,$$

where

$$f(x) := \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)\Gamma(1-s)} \int_{c}^{d} (t-c)^{s-1} (x-t)^{-s} dt$$

It is not difficult to see that

$$f(d) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)\Gamma(1-s)}\beta(s, 1-s) = 1,$$

and $f \in C([d, b)) \cap C^{\infty}((d, b)) \cap W^{1,1}((d, b))$. Hence, we deduce that

$$\mathcal{D}_{a+}^{s}[u] = \delta_{c} - \delta_{d} + f'\chi_{(d,b)}\mathscr{L}^{1} + f(d)\delta_{d} = \delta_{c} + f'\mathscr{L}^{1} \sqcup (d,b)$$

so that $I_{a+}^{1-s}[u] \in BV(I) \setminus W^{1,1}(I)$. Thus, $u \in BV_{RL,a+}^s(I) \setminus W_{RL,a+}^{s,1}(I)$. **Proposition 4.7.** Let $s \in (0,1)$. Then, the inclusion $W_{RL,a+}^{s,1}(I) \hookrightarrow BV_{RL,a+}^s(I)$ is strict.

Proof. It is an immediate consequence of Proposition 4.3 and Example 4.6. \Box

Thanks to Example 4.6, we see that, given $u \in BV_{RL,a+}^{s}(I) \setminus W_{RL,a+}^{s,1}(I)$, the measure $\mathcal{D}_{a+}^{s}[u]$ can have a jump part. It is natural to ask whether it admits also a Cantor part, in general. To this purpose, we exhibit an example of $u \in BV_{RL,a+}^{s}(I)$ such that $I_{a+}^{1-s}[u] \in BV(I) \setminus SBV(I)$, where SBV(I) is the space of special functions of bounded variation, for which $(Du)_{c} = 0$.

Example 4.8. Consider the classical ternary Cantor function C(x), and let I = (0, 1). It is well known that $C \in C^{0,\alpha_C}(\overline{I}) \cap BV(I)$, where $\alpha_C := \log_3 2$, and DC is a singular measure without atoms which means that $DC = (DC)_c$; in particular, up to a multiplicative constant, $DC = \mathcal{H}^{\alpha_C}$, see *e.g.* [4, Example 3.34].

Now, since C(0) = 0, we can use Proposition 2.18 to conclude that C is representable as the (1 - s)-fractional integral of a function in $C_0^{0,\alpha_C+s-1}(\overline{I})$, provided $s \in (1 - \alpha_C, 1)$. This implies that there exists $u \in C_0^{0,\alpha_C+s-1}(\overline{I})$ such that $I_{0+}^{1-s}[u](x) = C(x)$, and so $u \in BV_{RL,0+}^s(I)$, with $\mathcal{D}_{0+}^s[u] = DC = (DC)_c$.

5. Action of the fractional integral on Sobolev functions

Now we analyze regularizing properties of the fractional integral when it acts on functions in the Sobolev space $W^{1,p}(I)$ for some $p \ge 1$. We start with the following statement.

Proposition 5.1. Let $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $s \in (0,1)$ such that sp < 1. Then I_{a+}^{1-s} is a continuous operator from $W^{1,p}(I)$ into $W^{1,p}(I)$, with

$$\|I_{a+}^{1-s}[u]\|_{W^{1,p}(I)} \le \frac{(b-a)^{1-s}}{\Gamma(1-s)} \left(\frac{1}{1-s} + \max\left\{1, \frac{1}{b-a}\right\} \frac{1}{(1-sp)^{\frac{1}{p}}}\right) \|u\|_{W^{1,p}(I)}$$
(5.1)

for all $u \in W^{1,p}(I)$. In addition, I_{a+}^{1-s} is a continuous operator from $W_a^{1,p}(I)$ into $W^{1,p}(I)$ for all $s \in (0,1)$ and $p \in [1,\infty]$, with

$$\|I_{a+}^{1-s}[u]\|_{W^{1,p}(I)} \le \frac{(b-a)^{1-s}}{\Gamma(2-s)} \|u\|_{W^{1,p}(I)} \text{ for all } u \in W_a^{1,p}(I).$$
(5.2)

Proof. Thanks to Proposition 2.15 and Remark 2.16, $I_{a+}^{1-s}[u] \in L^p(I)$, and

$$\left\| I_{a+}^{1-s}[u] \right\|_{L^{p}(I)} \le \frac{(b-a)^{1-s}}{\Gamma(2-s)} \left\| u \right\|_{L^{p}(I)}.$$
(5.3)

Now, we prove that $D_{a+}^{s}[u] \in L^{p}(I)$. Recalling Remark 2.5, we have $u \in W^{1,p}(I) \hookrightarrow$ BV(I); hence, using Theorem 3.4, for all $s \in (0,1)$ we get

$$D_{a+}^{s}[u](x) = \frac{u(a)}{\Gamma(1-s)} \frac{1}{(x-a)^{s}} + I_{a+}^{1-s}[u'](x),$$
(5.4)

where u' denotes the weak derivative of u. Therefore, again by Proposition 2.15 and Remark 2.16 we get

$$\|D_{a+}^{s}[u]\|_{L^{p}(I)} \leq \frac{|u(a)|}{\Gamma(1-s)} \left(\int_{a}^{b} \frac{dx}{(x-a)^{sp}} \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} + \frac{(b-a)^{1-s}}{\Gamma(2-s)} \|u'\|_{L^{p}(I)}$$

Now, since sp < 1, the first term in the right hand side is finite, and we obtain

$$\left\| D_{a+}^{s}[u] \right\|_{L^{p}(I)} \leq \frac{(b-a)^{\frac{1}{p}-s}}{(1-sp)^{\frac{1}{p}}\Gamma(1-s)} |u(a)| + \frac{(b-a)^{1-s}}{\Gamma(2-s)} \left\| u' \right\|_{L^{p}(I)}.$$
(5.5)

Thus, summing up (5.3) and (5.5), and exploiting Remark 2.5, we deduce (5.1). Finally, if $u \in W_a^{1,p}(I)$, we have u(a) = 0, so that (5.4) reduces to $D_{a+}^s[u] = I_{a+}^{1-s}[u']$. Therefore, Proposition 2.15 and Remark 2.16 imply

$$\|I_{a+}^{1-s}[u]\|_{W^{1,p}(I)} = \|I_{a+}^{1-s}[u]\|_{L^{p}(I)} + \|I_{a+}^{1-s}[u']\|_{L^{p}(I)} \le \frac{(b-a)^{1-s}}{\Gamma(2-s)} \left(\|u\|_{L^{p}(I)} + \|u'\|_{L^{p}(I)}\right).$$

his concludes the proof.

This concludes the proof.

Corollary 5.2. Let $1 \le p \le q < \infty$ and $r, s \in (0, 1)$ such that sp < 1 and $r > s + \frac{1}{p'}$, where p' denotes the Hölder conjugate of p. Then we have

$$W^{r,q}_{RL,a+}(I) \hookrightarrow W^{s,p}_{RL,a+}(I).$$

Proof. Since $W^{r,q}_{RL,a+}(I) \hookrightarrow W^{r,p}_{RL,a+}(I)$, we are left to prove that $I^{1-s}_{a+}[u] \in W^{1,p}(I)$ for $u \in W^{r,p}_{RL,a+}(I)$. We notice that, thanks to Lemma 2.19,

$$I_{a+}^{1-s}[u](x) = I_{a+}^{r-s}[I_{a+}^{1-r}[u]](x) = I_{a+}^{1-\gamma}[v](x),$$

where $v := I_{a+}^{1-r}[u]$ and $\gamma := 1 - r + s$. Thanks to Proposition 5.1, since $v \in W^{1,p}(I)$ we have $I_{a+}^{1-\gamma}[v] \in W^{1,p}(I)$ provided $\gamma p < 1$, and this condition holds since $r > s + \frac{1}{p'}$.

Remark 5.3. We notice that Proposition 5.1 covers the case $p = \infty$ if and only if u(a) = 0. On the other hand, if $u(a) \neq 0$ we have neither continuous embedding, nor inclusion. Indeed, let us consider I := (0,1) and $u(x) := \cos(x) \in W^{1,\infty}(I)$. By Theorem 3.4, we see that

$$D_{0+}^{s}[u](x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-s)} \left(\frac{1}{x^{s}} - \int_{0}^{x} \frac{\sin(t)}{(x-t)^{s}} dt \right).$$

We notice that x^{-s} is not bounded when x is close to 0, while it is easy to see that

$$\left| \int_0^x \frac{\sin(t)}{(x-t)^s} \, dt \right| \le \int_0^x \frac{|\sin(t)|}{(x-t)^s} \, dt \le \int_0^x \frac{1}{(x-t)^s} \, dt = \frac{x^{1-s}}{1-s} \le \frac{1}{1-s}$$

Thus, we conclude that $D_{0+}^s[u] \notin L^{\infty}(I)$.

Remark 5.4. We notice that the continuous embedding given by Corollary 5.2 can be obtained as a byproduct of [25, Theorem 31], which shows that the embedding is compact.

Now, we show that the fractional integral actually improves the (weak) differentiability of a Sobolev function. To this purpose, we start with a simple remark.

Remark 5.5. Depending on the summability of a Sobolev function u we notice that $I_{a+}^{1-s}[u]$ enjoys different improvements in regularity. In particular, we distinguish the case p = 1 and the case p > 1.

(1) Case p = 1

If $u \in W^{1,1}(I)$, using Sobolev Embedding Theorem $u \in L^q(I)$ for any $1 \leq q \leq \infty$, and so, thanks to Proposition 2.15, $I_{a+}^{1-s}[u] \in \bigcap_{n \geq 1/\epsilon} C^{0,s-\frac{1}{q}}(\overline{I}).$

(2) Case p > 1If $u \in W^{1,p}(I)$, again by Sobolev Embedding Theorem, we have $u \in C^{0,1-\frac{1}{p}}(\overline{I})$. Using Proposition 2.18, for any $u \in C_a^{0,1-\frac{1}{p}}(\overline{I})$, we have • $I_{a+}^{1-s}[u] \in C_a^{0,2-s-\frac{1}{p}}(\overline{I})$ if $s + \frac{1}{p} > 1$, • $I_{a+}^{1-s}[u] \in H_a^{1,1}(\overline{I})$ if $s + \frac{1}{p} = 1$, • $I_{a+}^{1-s}[u] \in C_a^{1,1-s-\frac{1}{p}}(\overline{I})$ if $s + \frac{1}{p} < 1$. In the third case, it follows that $D_{a+}^{s}[u] \in C^{0,1-s-\frac{1}{p}}(\overline{I})$.

Now, we are able to prove that when we apply the fractional integral I_{a+}^{1-s} to a function in $W^{1,p}(I)$ for some p > 1, we gain more differentiability. This means that the function $I_{a+}^{1-s}[u]$ belongs to a higher order fractional Sobolev space.

Proposition 5.6. Let p > 1 and $s \in (0, \min\{\frac{1}{p}, \frac{p-1}{2p}\})$. For all $u \in W_a^{1,p}(I)$, we have $I_{a+}^{1-s}[u] \in W^{s+1,p}(I)$.

Proof. We notice that the conditions sp < 1 and $s + \frac{1}{p} < 1$ are satisfied, and so, by Proposition 5.1 and Remark 5.5, we get $I_{a+}^{1-s}[u] \in W^{1,p}(I) \cap C_a^{1,1-s-\frac{1}{p}}(\overline{I})$.

Now, we prove that $D^s_{a+}[u] \in W^{s,p}(I)$. Namely, we have to prove that

$$\int_{a}^{b} \int_{a}^{b} \frac{|D_{a+}^{s}[u](x) - D_{a+}^{s}[u](y)|^{p}}{|x - y|^{sp+1}} dx dy < \infty.$$

Now, we use the Hölder continuity of $D_{a+}^{s}[u]$ to say that

$$|D_{a+}^{s}[u](x) - D_{a+}^{s}[u](y)|^{p} \le C|x - y|^{p-sp-1},$$

for some C > 0 and for any $x, y \in I$.

Therefore, we have

$$\int_{a}^{b} \int_{a}^{b} \frac{|D_{a+}^{s}[u](x) - D_{a+}^{s}[u](y)|^{p}}{|x - y|^{sp + 1}} dx dy \le C \int_{a}^{b} \int_{a}^{b} \frac{1}{|x - y|^{2sp - p + 2}} dx dy,$$

where the integral on the right hand side converges since $s < \frac{p-1}{2p}$.

Corollary 5.7. Let p > 1, $s \in \left(0, \min\left\{\frac{1}{p}, \frac{p-1}{2p}\right\}\right)$ and $u \in W_a^{1,p}(I)$. Then we have

$$u \in W^{s,r}_{RL,a+}(I)$$
 for all $r \in \left[1, \frac{p}{1-sp}\right]$.

Proof. By Proposition 5.6, we have $I_{a+}^{1-s}[u] \in W^{s+1,p}(I)$, so that $D_{a+}^{s}[u] \in W^{s,p}(I)$. Hence, thanks to the fractional Sobolev Embedding, since sp < 1, we have $D_{a+}^{s}[u] \in L^{r}(I)$ for all $r \in \left[1, \frac{p}{1-sp}\right]$. Therefore, $I_{a+}^{1-s}[u]$ belongs to $W^{1,r}(I)$ for all $r \in \left[1, \frac{p}{1-sp}\right]$, and this proves the claim.

6. Sobolev-type embedding theorems for $W^{s,p}_{RL,a+}(I)$ and $BV^s_{RL,a+}(I)$

In this section we show a result analogous to the Sobolev embedding Theorem for Riemann-Liouville fractional Sobolev spaces. To the knowledge of the authors, this is an original result in this setting, which improves [8, Proposition 7]. We refer the reader *e.g.* [1, Chapter 4] for the classical Sobolev embedding Theorem for Sobolev spaces of integer order or [16, Theorem 6.7] for Sobolev spaces of fractional order.

Theorem 6.1 (Riemann-Liouville fractional Sobolev embedding). Let $s \in (0, 1)$, $1 \le p \le \infty$ and $u \in W^{s,p}_{RL,a+}(I)$. We have the following cases:

(1) if p = 1, then $u \in L^{\frac{1}{1-s},\infty}(I)$, and in particular $u \in L^r(I)$ for any $r \in [1, \frac{1}{1-s})$,

(2) if
$$p > 1$$
 and $u \in W^{s,p}_{RL,a+}(I) \cap I^s_{a+}(L^1(I))$, then
(a) if $1 , $u \in L^r(I)$ for any $r \in [1, \frac{p}{1-sp}]$,
(b) if $sp = 1$, $u \in L^r(I)$ for any $r \in [1, \infty)$,
(c) if $sp > 1$, $u \in C^{0,\beta}(\overline{I})$ for any $\beta \in [0, s - \frac{1}{p}]$.$

Proof. If $u \in W^{s,1}_{RL,a+}(I)$, by Lemma 2.33 we have

$$u(x) = I_{a+}^{s}[D_{a+}^{s}[u]](x) + \frac{I_{a+}^{1-s}[u](a)}{\Gamma(s)}(x-a)^{s-1} \text{ for } \mathscr{L}^{1}\text{-a.e. } x \in I.$$

It is clear that $(\cdot - a)^{s-1} \in L^{\frac{1}{1-s},\infty}(I)$, while Lemma 2.13 implies $I_{a+}^s[D_{a+}^s[u]] \in L^{\frac{1}{1-s},\infty}(I)$, since $D_{a+}^s[u] \in L^1(I)$. Then, it is enough to apply Lemma 2.2 to obtain point (1). Then, for p > 1 we use the additional assumption $u \in I_{a+}^s(L^1(I))$ together with Lemma 2.33 to obtain the improved representation formula

$$u(x) = I_{a+}^s[D_{a+}^s[u]](x)$$
 for \mathscr{L}^1 -a.e. $x \in I$.

In addition, $D_{a+}^s[u] \in L^p(I)$ since $u \in W_{RL,a+}^{s,p}(I)$. Therefore, the result follows directly from points 3, 4 and 5 of Proposition 2.15.

Remark 6.2. If we remove the L^1 -representability assumption for the case p > 1 in Theorem 6.1, we still obtain an improvement in summability if and only if $1 and <math>s \in (\frac{1}{2}, 1)$. Indeed, if $u \in W^{s,p}_{RL,a+}(I) \setminus I^s_{a+}(L^1(I))$ for some p > 1, we clearly have $u \in W^{s,1}_{RL,a+}(I) \setminus I^s_{a+}(L^1(I))$, so that $u \in L^r(I)$ for any $r \in [1, \frac{1}{1-s})$. On the other hand, the term $(x-a)^{s-1}$ in the representation formula (2.30) prevents us from obtaining a better result, since $(\cdot - a)^{s-1} \in L^r(I)$ if and only if $1 \leq r < \frac{1}{1-s}$. Thus, we gain summability if and only if 1 . Let us now consider separately the cases <math>sp < 1 and $sp \geq 1$. If $1 , we obtain an improvement in summability if and only if <math>(p, \frac{1}{1-s}) \supseteq (p, \frac{1}{s})$. Then, it is enough to notice that

$$\frac{1}{1-s} > \frac{1}{s}$$
 if and only if $\frac{1}{2} < s < 1$.

On the other hand, in the case $sp \ge 1$, we have

$$\frac{1}{s} \le p < \frac{1}{1-s},$$

so that it must be again $s \in \left(\frac{1}{2}, 1\right)$.

In addition, we can prove a similar results for functions with left Riemann-Liouville *s*-fractional bounded variation, which can be seen as the (one dimensional) "Riemann-Liouville version" of [14, Theorem 3.8].

Theorem 6.3. If $u \in BV_{RL,a+}^s(I)$, then $u \in L^{\frac{1}{1-s},\infty}(I)$, and in particular $u \in L^r(I)$ for all $r \in [1, \frac{1}{1-s})$.

Proof. By Lemma 4.4, any $u \in BV^s_{RL,a+}(I)$ satisfies

$$u(x) = I_{a+}^{s}[\mathcal{D}_{a+}^{s}[u]](x) + \frac{I_{a+}^{1-s}[u](a+)}{\Gamma(s)}(x-a)^{s-1} \text{ for } \mathscr{L}^{1}\text{-a.e. } x \in I.$$

It is immediate to check that $(\cdot - a)^{s-1} \in L^{\frac{1}{1-s},\infty}(I)$, while Lemma 3.3 implies

$$I_{a+}^{s}[\mathcal{D}_{a+}^{s}[u]] \in L^{\frac{1}{1-s},\infty}(I),$$

since $\mathcal{D}_{a+}^{s}[u] \in \mathcal{M}(I)$. Then, it is enough to apply Lemma 2.2 to conclude the proof. \Box

We notice here that the embedding in Theorem 6.1 is sharp. The continuity of the fractional integral I_{a+}^s from $L^p(I)$ into $L^r(I)$, with $1 and <math>1 \le r \le \frac{p}{1-sp}$ has been proved by Hardy and Littlewood in [24, Theorem 4], but in the limiting cases p = 1 and $p = \frac{1}{s}$ the continuity fails, as shown by the following examples.

Example 6.4. Let $s \in (0, 1)$, $1 < \beta \le 2 - s$, I = (0, 1) and

$$f(x) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{x|\log(x)|^{\beta}} & \text{if } 0 < x \le \frac{1}{2} \\ 0 & \text{if } \frac{1}{2} < x < 1. \end{cases}$$

Let $u := I_{0+}^s[f]$. Clearly, $u \in I_{0+}^s(L^1(I)) = I_{0+}^s(L^1(I)) \cap W_{RL,0+}^{s,1}(I)$ since $f \in L^1(I)$. However, for all $x \in (0, 1/2)$, we have

$$u(x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^x \frac{dt}{t |\log(t)|^\beta (x-t)^{1-s}} > \frac{x^{s-1}}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^x \frac{dt}{t |\log(t)|^\beta} = \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)(\beta-1)} x^{s-1} |\log(x)|^{1-\beta},$$

so that

$$\int_0^1 |u(x)|^{\frac{1}{1-s}} dx \ge \int_0^{\frac{1}{2}} |u(x)|^{\frac{1}{1-s}} dx > c(\beta, s) \int_0^{1/2} \frac{dx}{x|\log(x)|^{\frac{\beta-1}{1-s}}} = +\infty,$$

since $\frac{\beta - 1}{1 - s} \le 1$. Thus, $u \notin L^{\frac{1}{1 - s}}(I)$.

Example 6.5. Let $s \in (0, 1)$, I := (0, 1) and

$$f(x) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } 0 < x < \frac{1}{2} \\ \frac{1}{(1-x)^s |\log(1-x)|} & \text{if } \frac{1}{2} \le x < 1 \end{cases}$$

Now let $u := I_{0+}^s[f]$; since $f \in L^{1/s}(I)$, by Lemma 2.28 we have $u \in I_{0+}^s(L^{1/s}(I)) \hookrightarrow W_{RL,0+}^{s,1/s}(I) \cap I_{0+}^s(L^1(I))$. Now, we notice that

$$\lim_{x \to 1^{-}} u(x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_{1/2}^{1} \frac{dt}{(1-t)|\log(1-t)|} = +\infty,$$

which implies that $u \notin L^{\infty}(I)$.

7. Higher order fractional derivatives

In this section, we point out that some of the results presented in the paper can be extended to higher order fractional derivatives.

Definition 7.1. Let $k \in \mathbb{N}$, $s \in (k-1,k)$ and u be such that the fractional integrals $I_{a+}^{k-s}[u]$ and $I_{b-}^{k-s}[u]$ are sufficiently smooth. We define the Riemann-Liouville *s*-fractional derivatives of u as

$$D_{a+}^{s}[u](x) := \frac{d^{k}}{dx^{k}} I_{a+}^{k-s}[u](x).$$
$$D_{b-}^{s}[u](x) := (-1)^{k} \frac{d^{k}}{dx^{k}} I_{b-}^{k-s}[u](x).$$

We observe that I_{a+}^{k-s} and I_{b-}^{k-s} are the left and right fractional integral operators, respectively, as defined in (2.6) and (2.7), since $k-s \in (0,1)$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and $s \in (k-1,k)$. From this definition, for $u \in C^k(\overline{I})$, we immediately obtain a definition for higher order Caputo fractional derivatives:

$${}^{C}D^{s}_{a+}[u](x) := \frac{1}{\Gamma(k-s)} \int_{a}^{x} \frac{u^{(k)}(t)}{(x-t)^{s-k+1}} dt = D^{s}_{a+}[u](x) - \sum_{j=0}^{k-1} \frac{u^{(j)}(a)}{\Gamma(j-s+1)} (x-a)^{j-s},$$

and

$${}^{C}D_{b-}^{s}[u](x) := \frac{(-1)^{k}}{\Gamma(k-s)} \int_{x}^{b} \frac{u^{(k)}(t)}{(t-x)^{s-k+1}} dt = D_{b-}^{s}[u](x) - \sum_{j=0}^{k-1} (-1)^{j} \frac{u^{(j)}(b)}{\Gamma(j-s+1)} (b-x)^{j-s} dt = D_{b-}^{s}[u](x) - \sum_{j=0}^{k-1} (-1)^{j} \frac{u$$

These higher order fractional derivatives allow to define, for $p \ge 1, k \in \mathbb{N}$ and $s \in (k-1, k)$, higher order left Riemann-Liouville fractional Sobolev spaces

$$W^{s,p}_{RL,a+}(I) := \left\{ u \in W^{k-1,p}(I) : I^{k-s}_{a+}[u] \in W^{k,p}(I) \right\}.$$

Proposition 7.2 (Continuity of the fractional integral in higher order Sobolev spaces). If $k \geq 2$, $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $s \in \left(k-1, k-1+\frac{1}{p}\right)$, then the fractional integral I_{a+}^{k-s} is a continuous operator from $W^{k,p}(I) \cap W_a^{k-1,p}(I)$ into $W^{k,p}(I)$. Moreover, for $k \geq 1$ and for all $s \in (k-1,k)$, I_{a+}^{k-s} is a continuous operator

- (1) from $W_a^{k,p}(I)$ into $W^{k,p}(I)$ for all $p \in [1,\infty]$, (2) from $W_a^{k,1}(I)$ into $W^{k,\frac{1}{1-k+s},\infty}(I)$, and so into $W^{k,r}(I)$, for all $r \in [1,\frac{1}{1-k+s})$,
- (3) from $W_a^{k,p}(I)$ into $W^{k,r}(I)$ for all $p \in \left(1, \frac{1}{k-s}\right)$ and $r \in \left[1, \frac{p}{1-(k-s)p}\right]$,
- (4) from $W_a^{k,p}(I)$ into $C^{k,k-s-\frac{1}{p}}(\overline{I})$ for all $p \in \left(\frac{1}{k-s},\infty\right)$,
- (5) from $W_a^{k,\frac{1}{k-s}}(I)$ into $W^{k,r}(I)$ for all $r \in [1,\infty)$,
- (6) from $W_a^{k,\infty}(I)$ into $C^{k,k-s}(\overline{I})$,

where $W^{k,\frac{1}{1-k+s},\infty}(I) := \Big\{ u \in W^{k,1}(I) \cap W^{k-1,\infty}(I) : u^{(k)} \in L^{\frac{1}{1-k+s},\infty}(I) \Big\}.$

Proof. We recall that $W^{k,p}(I) \hookrightarrow AC^{k-1}(\overline{I})$, for all $1 \leq p \leq \infty$ and $k \in \mathbb{N}$, where $u \in AC^{k-1}(\overline{I})$ if $u \in C^{k-1}(\overline{I})$ and $u^{(k-1)} \in AC(\overline{I})$. Hence, we see that the following representation formula obtained via iterated integrations by parts holds:

$$I_{a+}^{k-s}[u](x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(k-s)} \left(c_{s,k,k} \int_{a}^{x} u^{(k)}(t)(x-t)^{2k-s-1} dt + \sum_{i=0}^{k-1} c_{s,k,i} u^{(i)}(a)(x-a)^{k-s+i} \right),$$

where

$$c_{s,k,h} := \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } h = 0, \\ \left(\prod_{l=0}^{h-1} (k-s+l)\right)^{-1} & \text{if } h \ge 1. \end{cases}$$

Therefore, it is not difficult to check that $I_{a+}^{k-s}[u]$ admits weak derivatives in $L^p(I)$ up to order k if u vanishes in a with all its derivatives up to order k-2. Indeed, if $u \in$

 $W^{k,p}(I) \cap W^{k-1,p}_a(I)$, for all $j \in \{0, \dots, k\}$ we have

$$(I_{a+}^{k-s}[u])^{(j)}(x) = \frac{d_{j,k,s}}{\Gamma(k-s)} \int_{a}^{x} u^{(k)}(t)(x-t)^{2k-s-1-j} dt + \frac{e_{j,k,s}}{\Gamma(k-s)} u^{(k-1)}(a)(x-a)^{2k-s-1-j},$$
(7.1)

where

$$d_{j,k,s} = c_{s,k,k} \frac{\prod_{i=0}^{j} (2k-s-i)}{2k-s}$$
 and $e_{j,k,s} = c_{s,k,k-1} \frac{\prod_{i=0}^{j} (2k-s-i)}{2k-s}$

It is clear that the second term belongs to $L^p(I)$ for all $j \in \{0, \ldots, k\}$ if and only if $s < k - 1 + \frac{1}{p}$. As for the first term, we notice that

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{\Gamma(k-s)} \left| \int_{a}^{x} u^{(k)}(t) (x-t)^{2k-s-1-j} dt \right| &\leq \frac{1}{\Gamma(k-s)} (b-a)^{k-j} \int_{a}^{x} \frac{|u^{(k)}(t)|}{(x-t)^{1-k+s}} dt \\ &= (b-a)^{k-j} I_{a+}^{k-s} [|u^{(k)}|](x), \end{aligned}$$

so that Proposition 2.15 and Remark 2.16 imply

$$\frac{1}{\Gamma(k-s)} \left(\int_{a}^{b} \left| \int_{a}^{x} u^{(k)}(t)(x-t)^{2k-s-1-j} dt \right|^{p} dx \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \leq (b-a)^{k-j} \left\| I_{a+}^{k-s}[|u^{(k)}|] \right\|_{L^{p}(I)}$$
$$\leq (b-a)^{k-j} \frac{(b-a)^{k-s}}{\Gamma(k+1-s)} \| u^{(k)} \|_{L^{p}(I)}.$$

Therefore, $(I_{a+}^{k-s}[u])^{(j)} \in L^p(I)$ for all $j \in \{0, \ldots, k\}, 1 \le p < \infty$ and $s \in (k-1, k-1+\frac{1}{p})$. Thus, for all $u \in W^{k,p}(I) \cap W_a^{k-1,p}(I)$ we get

$$\|I_{a+}^{k-s}[u]\|_{W^{k,p}(I)} \le C_{k,s,p,a,b}\left(\|u^{(k)}\|_{L^{p}(I)} + |u^{(k-1)}(a)|\right) \le \tilde{C}\|u\|_{W^{k,p}(I)},$$

thanks to Remark 2.5, since $u^{(k-1)} \in W^{1,p}(I)$. Furthermore, if $k \ge 1$ and $u \in W_a^{k,p}(I)$, we have $u^{(k-1)}(a) = 0$, so that (7.1) reduces to

$$(I_{a+}^{k-s}[u])^{(j)}(x) = \frac{d_{j,k,s}}{\Gamma(k-s)} \int_{a}^{x} u^{(k)}(t)(x-t)^{2k-s-1-j} dt,$$
(7.2)

for all $j \in \{0, \ldots, k\}$. In particular, if $j \in \{0, \ldots, k-1\}$, then $(x-t)^{2k-s-1-j}$ is bounded for all $x, t \in (a, b)$ and $s \in (k-1, k)$; so that $I_{a+}^{k-s}[u] \in C^{k-1}(\overline{I})$, with

$$\|I_{a+}^{k-s}[u]\|_{W^{k-1,\infty}(I)} \le C \|u^{(k)}\|_{L^1(I)} \le \tilde{C} \|u\|_{W^{k,p}(I)}$$

for all $p \in [1, \infty]$ and $u \in W_a^{k, p}(I)$. On the other hand, if j = k, (7.2) yields

$$(I_{a+}^{k-s}[u])^{(k)} = d_{k,k,s}I_{a+}^{k-s}[u^{(k)}]$$

so that we can apply Proposition 2.15 to $u^{(k)}$ replacing s with $k - s \in (0, 1)$ in order to conclude the continuity of I_{a+}^{k-s} from $W_a^{k,p}(I)$ into suitable Sobolev or Hölder spaces, depending on the values of k, s, p. **Remark 7.3.** The first part of Proposition 7.2 in the case k = 1 is covered by Proposition 5.1, where a homogeneous initial condition is not necessary to prove the continuity of the (1 - s)-fractional integral from $W^{1,p}(I)$ to $W^{1,p}(I)$.

Remark 7.4. Using the same counterexample of Remark 5.3 in the case k = 1, we see that, in the case $p = \infty$, homogeneous conditions in the initial point for all the derivatives up to order k - 1 are necessary in order to show that $I_{a+}^{k-s}[u] \in W^{k,\infty}(I)$.

The introduction of higher order Riemann-Liouville fractional Sobolev spaces allows us to prove the following proposition involving the space

$$BH(I) := \left\{ u \in W^{1,1}(I) \, | \, u' \in BV(I) \right\},\$$

which is known in the literature as the space of functions with bounded Hessian in I. Originally introduced in [15], BH is the natural setting for second order variational problems with linear growth (see e.g. [12] for applications in image analysis). For our purposes, we consider the subspace $BH_a(I)$; that is, the space of functions $u \in BH(I)$ such that u(a) = 0, which is well defined, since $u \in AC(\overline{I})$, being a Sobolev function.

Proposition 7.5. Let $u \in BH_a(I)$, then $u \in W^{s,1}_{RL,a+}(I)$ for all $s \in (1,2)$.

Proof. By definition, $u \in W^{1,1}(I)$ and $u' \in BV(I)$. Therefore, thanks to Theorem 3.4, we have $u' \in W^{\sigma,1}_{RL,a+}(I)$ for all $\sigma \in (0,1)$, and so $I^{1-\sigma}_{a+}[u'] = {}^{C}D^{\sigma}_{a+}[u] \in W^{1,1}(I)$. Now, since u(a) = 0, we have ${}^{C}D^{\sigma}_{a+}[u](x) = D^{\sigma}_{a+}[u](x)$ for all $x \in I$ by (2.20), since $u \in W^{1,1}(I)$ implies the existence of a representative of u in $AC(\overline{I})$. This implies that $I^{1-\sigma}_{a+}[u] \in W^{2,1}(I)$ for all $\sigma \in (0,1)$. Now, if we set $\sigma := s - 1$ for $s \in (1,2)$, the claim plainly follows. \Box

8. Open Problems

As noticed in Remark 3.12, we are not able to prove (or disprove) that for $s \in (0, 1)$ and p > 1 the inclusion

$$W^{s,p}(I) \hookrightarrow W^{s,p}_{RL,a+}(I) \tag{8.1}$$

holds.

In addition, Proposition 3.13 does not cover the case $r \in [s, s + \frac{1}{p'})$. In any case, we think that, in order to prove the inclusion in (8.1), the condition sp < 1 is essential.

Indeed, if sp < 1, thanks to Remark 2.9, the set $C_c^1(I)$ is dense in $W^{s,p}(I)$. Therefore, firstly one should be able to prove an analogous of Lemma 3.5 for functions in $W^{s,p}(I)$, and once proved that

$$D_{a+}^{s}[u](x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-s)} \frac{u(x)}{(x-a)^{s}} + \frac{s}{\Gamma(1-s)} \int_{a}^{x} \frac{u(x) - u(t)}{(x-t)^{s+1}} dt \text{ for } \mathscr{L}^{1}\text{-a.e. } x \in I,$$

one could estimate the L^p norm of the first term in the right-hand side thanks to the fractional Hardy inequality (Lemma 2.10). However, it is not yet clear to us how to

handle the second term. Indeed, thanks to Hölder's inequality, a slightly rough estimate yields

$$\int_{a}^{b} \left| \int_{a}^{x} \frac{u(x) - u(t)}{(x-t)^{s+1}} \, dt \right|^{p} dx \le (b-a)^{p-1} \int_{a}^{b} \int_{a}^{x} \frac{|u(x) - u(t)|^{p}}{|x-t|^{sp+p}} \, dt \, dx = (b-a)^{p-1} \left(S_{1} + S_{2}\right),$$
where

where

$$S_1 := \int_a^b \int_{I_1(x)} \frac{|u(x) - u(t)|^p}{|x - t|^{sp+p}} dt dx, \ I_1(x) := \{t \in (a, b) : |x - t| > 1\},\$$

and

$$S_2 := \int_a^b \int_{I_2(x)} \frac{|u(x) - u(t)|^p}{|x - t|^{sp+p}} dt dx, \ I_2(x) := \{t \in (a, b) : |x - t| \le 1\}$$

As for S_1 , we see that

$$S_1 \le \int_a^b \int_{I_1(x)} \frac{|u(x) - u(t)|^p}{|x - t|^{sp+1}} \, dt \, dx \le [u]_{W^{s,p}(I)}^p$$

However, we are not able to prove (or disprove) the existence of a constant C = C(s, p, I) > 0 such that an estimate of the form

$$S_2 \le C[u]_{W^{s,p}(I)}^p,$$

or its weaker formulation

$$S_2 \le C \|u\|_{W^{s,p}(I)}^p$$
,

holds true.

References

- R. A. Adams and J. J. F. Fournier, *Sobolev spaces*, 2nd ed., Pure and Applied Mathematics (Amsterdam), vol. 140, Elsevier/Academic Press, Amsterdam, 2003.
- [2] M. Allen, L. Caffarelli, and A. Vasseur, A parabolic problem with a fractional time derivative, Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 221 (2016), no. 2, 603–630, DOI 10.1007/s00205-016-0969-z.
- [3] R. Almeida, N. R. O. Bastos, and M. T. T. Monteiro, Modeling some real phenomena by fractional differential equations, Math. Methods Appl. Sci. 39 (2016), no. 16, 4846–4855, DOI 10.1002/mma.3818.
- [4] L. Ambrosio, N. Fusco, and D. Pallara, Functions of bounded variation and free discontinuity problems, Oxford Mathematical Monographs, The Clarendon Press, Oxford University Press, New York, 2000.
- [5] G. A. Anastassiou, Fractional differentiation inequalities, Springer, Dordrecht, 2009.
- [6] E. Artin, The Gamma function, Translated by Michael Butler. Athena Series: Selected Topics in Mathematics, Holt, Rinehart and Winston, New York-Toronto-London, 1964.
- [7] M. Bergounioux, A. Leaci, G. Nardi, and F. Tomarelli, Fractional Sobolev spaces and functions of bounded variation of one variable, Fract. Calc. Appl. Anal. 20 (2017), no. 4, 936–962, DOI 10.1515/fca-2017-0049.
- [8] L. Bourdin and D. Idczak, A fractional fundamental lemma and a fractional integration by parts formula—Applications to critical points of Bolza functionals and to linear boundary value problems, Adv. Differential Equations 20 (2015), no. 3-4, 213–232.

- [9] M. Caputo, Linear models of dissipation whose Q is almost frequency independent. II, Fract. Calc. Appl. Anal. 11 (2008), no. 1, 4–14. Reprinted from Geophys. J. R. Astr. Soc. 13 (1967), no. 5, 529–539.
- [10] A. Carbotti, S. Dipierro, and E. Valdinoci, Local density of Caputo-stationary functions of any order, Complex Variables and Elliptic Equations, posted on 2018, DOI 10.1080/17476933.2018.1544631.
- [11] A. Carbotti, S. Dipierro, and E. Valdinoci, *Local density of solutions to fractional equations*, De Gruyter Studies in Mathematics, De Gruyter, 2019.
- [12] M. Carriero, A. Leaci, and F. Tomarelli, Second order variational problems with free discontinuity and free gradient discontinuity, Calculus of variations: topics from the mathematical heritage of E. De Giorgi, Quad. Mat., vol. 14, Dept. Math., Seconda Univ. Napoli, Caserta, 2004, pp. 135–186.
- [13] G. E. Comi and G. Stefani, A distributional approach to fractional Sobolev spaces and fractional variation: existence of blow-up, J. Funct. Anal. 277 (2019), no. 10, 3373–3435, DOI 10.1016/j.jfa.2019.03.011.
- [14] G. E. Comi and G. Stefani, A distributional approach to fractional Sobolev spaces and fractional variation: asymptotics I (2019), preprint, available at https://arxiv.org/abs/1910.13419.
- [15] F. Demengel, Fonctions à hessien borné, Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 34 (1984), no. 2, 155–190 (French).
- [16] E. Di Nezza, G. Palatucci, and E. Valdinoci, *Hitchhiker's guide to the fractional Sobolev spaces*, Bull. Sci. Math. **136** (2012), no. 5, 521–573, DOI 10.1016/j.bulsci.2011.12.004.
- [17] M. Di Paola, F. P. Pinnola, and M. Zingales, Fractional differential equations and related exact mechanical models, Comput. Math. Appl. 66 (2013), no. 5, 608–620, DOI 10.1016/j.camwa.2013.03.012.
- [18] S. Dipierro and E. Valdinoci, A Simple Mathematical Model Inspired by the Purkinje Cells: From Delayed Travelling Waves to Fractional Diffusion, Bull. Math. Biol. 80 (2018), no. 7, 1849–1870, DOI 10.1007/s11538-018-0437-z.
- [19] B. Dyda, A fractional order Hardy inequality, Illinois J. Math. 48 (2004), no. 2, 575–588.
- [20] L. C. Evans and R. F. Gariepy, Measure theory and fine properties of functions, Revised edition, Textbooks in Mathematics, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 2015.
- [21] F. Ferrari, Weyl and Marchaud Derivatives: A Forgotten History, Mathematics 6 (2018), no. 1, DOI 10.3390/math6010006.
- [22] L. Grafakos, *Classical Fourier Analysis*, 3rd ed., Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 249, Springer, New York, 2014.
- [23] L. Grafakos, Modern Fourier Analysis, 3rd ed., Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 250, Springer, New York, 2014.
- [24] G. H. Hardy and J. E. Littlewood, Some properties of fractional integrals. I, Math. Z. 27 (1928), no. 1, 565–606, DOI 10.1007/BF01171116.
- [25] D. Idczak and S. Walczak, Fractional Sobolev spaces via Riemann-Liouville derivatives, J. Funct. Spaces Appl., posted on 2013, Art. ID 128043, 15, DOI 10.1155/2013/128043.
- [26] G. W. Leibniz, Letter from Hanover, Germany, to G. F. A. L'Hôpital, September 30; 1695, Mathematische Schriften 2 (1849), 301–302.
- [27] L. Lombardini, Minimization problems involving nonlocal functionals: nonlocal minimal surfaces and a free boundary problem, 2018. PhD thesis, available at https://arxiv.org/pdf/1811.09746.pdf.
- [28] A. Lunardi, Interpolation theory, Appunti. Scuola Normale Superiore di Pisa (Nuova Serie) [Lecture Notes. Scuola Normale Superiore di Pisa (New Series)], vol. 16, Edizioni della Normale, Pisa, 2018.

- [29] P. Mironescu and W. Sickel, A Sobolev non embedding, Atti Accad. Naz. Lincei Rend. Lincei Mat. Appl. 26 (2015), no. 3, 291–298, DOI 10.4171/RLM/707.
- [30] S. G. Samko, A. A. Kilbas, and O. I. Marichev, *Fractional integrals and derivatives*, Gordon and Breach Science Publishers, Yverdon, 1993. Theory and applications; Edited and with a foreword by S. M. Nikol'skiĭ; Translated from the 1987 Russian original; Revised by the authors.
- [31] A. Schikorra, T.-T. Shieh, and D. Spector, L^p theory for fractional gradient PDE with VMO coefficients, Atti Accad. Naz. Lincei Rend. Lincei Mat. Appl. 26 (2015), no. 4, 433–443.
- [32] T.-T. Shieh and D. E. Spector, On a new class of fractional partial differential equations, Adv. Calc. Var. 8 (2015), no. 4, 321–336.
- [33] T.-T. Shieh and D. E. Spector, On a new class of fractional partial differential equations II, Adv. Calc. Var. 11 (2018), no. 3, 289–307.
- [34] M. Šilhavý, Fractional vector analysis based on invariance requirements (Critique of coordinate approaches), M. Continuum Mech. Thermodyn. (2019), 1–22.
- [35] E. M. Stein, Singular integrals and differentiability properties of functions, Princeton Mathematical Series, No. 30, Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J., 1970.

Email address: ¹alessandro.carbottiQunisalento.it, ²giovanni.comiQuni-hamburg.de